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About this report
This Annual Report presents the financial results of
and most important developments at The Greenery
B.V. in the year 2018.
The 2018 financial statements were signed on 3 April
2019 by the Supervisory Board and submitted for
adoption to the General Meeting of Shareholders of
The Greenery B.V.
The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Dutch GAAP and with Part
9, Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code, insofar as applicable.
This version is a translation of the original Annual
Report 2018, which is written in Dutch.In the event of
any discrepancies between the two language versions,
the Dutch text shall prevail.
The annual report of The Greenery B.V. is also available
on the company's website: www.thegreenery.com.
Concepts used in this annual report include the
following:
• The Greenery (the 'operating company')
• The Greenery as a whole, including all its operating
companies (‘The Greenery B.V.’, 'The Greenery
Group', the ‘enterprise’)
• The General Management of The Greenery B.V.
('General Management')
• The Supervisory Board of The Greenery B.V.
('Supervisory Board')
• Coöperatie Coforta U.A. (the ‘Cooperative’)
• The Management Board of Coöperatie Coforta U.A.
(the ‘Management Board’)
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Key statistics in 2018

2.0

EUR
million net revenue

51.9%

40.2%

1,144

375

Share of retail clients in revenue

employees (FTEs at year-end)

1,490

approx.
domestic and international fruit
& vegetable suppliers

297
products

Suppliers participating in IDH
(Sustainable Trade Initiative):

69%
4

992

EUR
million net profit
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Share of trade clients in revenue

member companies

Export to

52

countries

60%

of the acreage of our Dutch growers is
PlanetProof certified

Growers participating in GRASP:

100%

Key figures
Total
in millions of euros, unless indicated otherwise

2018

2017

Net revenue
Fruit & Vegetable Trade
Logistical Services
Exploitation & Development

991.9
913.1
76.0
2.8

1,003.2
927.9
70.5
4.8

Gross contribution1

154.8

151.9

Personnel expenses - fixed
Personnel expenses - variable
Other operating expenses
EBITDA

71.3
35.7
43.3
4.5

67.6
27.4
40.2
16.7

Amortisation and depreciation
Impairments
Operating profit

14.0
(1.8)
(7.7)

15.6
(0.3)
1.4

Interest income and expense
Taxes on result
Share on result of participating interests
Net result

(3.2)
2.4
10.5
2.0

(3.9)
3.7
11.3
12.5

Cash flows
Cash flow from operating activities
Cash flow from investing activities
Cash flow from financing activities

12.7
(20.7)
(5.1)

10.0
0.2
(7.3)

Equity and financing2
Balance sheet total
Invested capital3
Return on average invested capital
Interest-bearing loans (including members' loans)
Members' loans
Liabilities
Solvency (equity in % liabilities)

289.8
192.1
2.3%
65.4
48.7
187.6
54.4%

303.7
197.2
8.3%
68.9
52.5
197.5
53.8%

Capital base2
Equity capital
Product funds
Provision for deferred tax liabilities
Mandatory members' loans (long term)
Pension provision (RJ271)4
Total capital base
Capital base as a percentage of total assets

102.1
4.2
16.3
33.9
5.4
161.9
55.9%

106.2
5.2
21.0
36.9
8.4
177.7
58.5%

Number of employees
Full-time equivalents as at 31 December

1,144

1,062

1 Net revenue minus cost of sales and subcontracted work
2 Comparative figures have partly been restated for comparison purposes.
3 Fixed assets and working capital
4 The (provisional) commitment to pension providers is included in the capital base.
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2018 Highlights
Opening of Phase II of the RDC
23 February

GreenChain SSL
15 March

Introduction of single-serve
packaging for blueberries
2 January

Innovation

Introduction of
Sweet and Sunny
6 February
Quality

Digitization

Cooperation with APS
28 March
Innovation
Sustainability

ForwardFarming
Fruit
8 June

Cooperation

Verse Oogst (Fresh Harvest)
Summer Fruit Festival
12 June

Start of Phase III of the RDC
4 July

Quality
Sustainability
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Construction of the new building
of Hoogsteder Group commences
14 September

Launch of Agromanager
5 July

Opening of
production facilities
for meal boxes in
Barendrecht
18 July

Quality

Participation in Market
Match in Rotterdam
28 September

Quality
Quality

Best Fruit Friend
campaign for Sweet
Sensation

Innovation

31 August

Cooperation

Sustainability

Hollander launches
Fresh Fulfilment
3 December

Breda site scores highest
in the Tesco audit
8 November

Expansion of online
retail clients
10 December

Cooperation

Quality
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Steven Martina, CEO of The Greenery and Gerard Pronk, chair of Coöperatie Coforta
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Foreword
BUILDING A DIGITAL FUTURE
The year 2018 saw The Greenery again make significant
strides towards the further implementation of its 'Growing
Together 2022' strategy. In the process, the Greenery
contributes to a healthier society. Sustainable and safe
growing methods, product innovations, technological
developments and collaboration with supply chain partners
are important elements of that process. By putting clients
centre stage, The Greenery will continue to be relevant in the
future as well. At the same time, fresh fruit and vegetables will
remain accessible to and affordable for everyone.

a new digital growers’ portal has been introduced. We have
also started work on the development of a new client portal,
which will be ready for use in 2019.
The Dutch fruit and vegetable sector had the negative
consequences of the long, hot and dry summer to contend
with in 2018. Many product groups were affected by the
extreme weather. The consequences include higher costs in
the supply chain owing to smaller volumes, declining quality
and sharp fluctuations in supply and demand. This had a
substantial impact on business operations and, consequently,
on The Greenery’s financial results in the reporting year.

To achieve this, a sound and professional foundation of
growers is also crucial, since together with our growers we will
be able to respond from the source to trends and
developments in the market. In this light, the following
objectives are relevant: encouraging entrepreneurship,
delivering more tailor-made products, market-oriented
production and fostering ownership. By making membership
for growers more attractive in a business-like fashion,
Coöperatie Coforta makes a substantial contribution to The
Greenery’s objectives.

Despite this adverse financial climate, we continued to invest
heavily, including in new (online) clients and programmes, the
construction of The Greenery’s and Hoogsteder’s new
distribution centres, staff training, ICT infrastructures and
digitisation. This will help to ensure that working with and for
The Greenery becomes a more attractive prospect for growers
and employees. It will enable The Greenery to achieve its
ambition, in collaboration with its growers, to add value to
fruit and vegetables while acknowledging and respecting the
world around us.

The Greenery is transitioning from an organisation that
operates on a supply driven basis into one that can respond
swiftly to the opportunities presented by the market. This
means that different staff competences and skills will be
required, as well as ensuring that our organisation is flexible
and agile, we will also have to adopt a different approach to
cooperation. In 2018, in close consultation with Coforta, The
Greenery developed the outlines of a new commercial
strategy and determined the accompanying organisational
structure, which will be implemented in 2019.

Steven Martina, CEO of The Greenery B.V.
Gerard Pronk, chair, Coöperatie Coforta U.A.
Barendrecht, 3 April 2019

The transition to a demand-driven, agile organisation will also
bring about a change in our relationship with Coforta
members. A yet even greater collaborative effort than ever
before will be required to provide clients with an optimum
service. The investments this implies for both parties require a
durable professional relationship that will enable further
optimisation of the supply chain.
In 2018, The Greenery developed a vision commensurate with
the strategic objective of a digital supply chain manager. This
vision indicates the route The Greenery is taking towards its
digitisation and the development of new digital revenue
models, featuring distinct elements such as providing new
digital solutions for clients, enhancing clients’ and growers’
digital experiences, and using digitisation to make processes
more efficient and faster. Its first results are already apparent:

2018 Annual Report of The Greenery B.V.
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REPORT OF THE
MANAGEMENT BOARD

The Management Board of The Greenery B.V. hereby presents
the management report for the year ending on 31 December 2018.

2018 Annual Report of The Greenery B.V.
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About The Greenery

Together, the companies within The Greenery Group constitute a trading company
with international operations and a logistics service provider for fruit and
vegetables. The Greenery works with its growers, employees, clients and suppliers to
allow consumers to enjoy natural, healthy and ultra-fresh fruit and vegetables.

COMPANY PROFILE
The Greenery acts as director of the chain by connecting the
supply and demand side of the fruit and vegetable business,
while focusing on the interests of clients in the process.
Through cooperation, value is added to every link in the chain.
The Greenery makes all the difference for its clients by:
applying sustainable growing methods, using big data,
continuous innovation and optimising the quality of both
products and services.
The Greenery supplies a complete and ultra-fresh range of
fruit and vegetables to supermarkets, wholesalers, caterers
and the processing industry. We cooperate intensively with
our growers and partners from the Netherlands and abroad to
be able to supply our products to clients all year round. Our job
is to ensure the efficient management of our extensive
product range, in terms of both quality and quantity.

12
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Through long-term collaborations with our clients, we are able
to offer our growers prices in line with the market as well as
continuity of sales. We are continuously on the look-out for
innovative products, packaging and shelf concepts on behalf
of our clients, using both our expertise and market research in
this effort. In addition, we maintain contacts with end users
through consumer panels, we translate consumers' wishes to
projects for seed companies and we are represented in trade
and sector organisations. Intensive collaboration enables us to
connect all the links in our chain.
The Greenery is wholly owned by the Coforta growers'
cooperative.

ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE
The Greenery Group comprises various business units,
subsidiaries and participating interests which collectively
contribute to the successful marketing of fruit and vegetables.
The Greenery's activities are classified within three pillars:
Fruit & Vegetable Trade, Logistical Services and Exploitation &
Development.

FRUIT & VEGETABLE TRADE
Fruit & Vegetable Trade covers all business units and
subsidiaries whose primary activity is the sale of fruit and
vegetables.

The Greenery
In addition to the Coöperatie Coforta members, The Greenery
works with approximately 50 other Dutch and 500
international growers to be able to provide a complete range
all year round, supplementing the Dutch product range with
imported products. This enables The Greenery to supply more
than 265 different products that meet our clients'
requirements and specifications every day throughout the
year. The Greenery stands out in the market for its wide

variety of products and services, close relationships with
growers, knowledge of the fresh produce market and focus on
innovation and food safety. Due to its excellent supply chain
management, The Greenery can manage all flows of goods
effectively and ensure the right products are linked directly to
the right clients. As a result of home-based transshipment
from the growers, our products can reach the shelf straight
from the field or greenhouse within a single day. Moreover, the
transport flows of The Greenery and those of third parties can
be combined to reduce the number of client deliveries, reduce
costs and lessen the environmental impact.

Hagé International
Hagé International (Hagé) imports products from abroad to
supplement Dutch seasonal produce on behalf of The
Greenery Group. Hagé also imports fruit and vegetables that
cannot be produced in the Netherlands. Hagé International
also includes The Greenery España S.A., which focuses on the
trade of Spanish products.

Organisatiestructuur
Organisational structure
The Greenery Groep

Shared services

Sourcing & Trade

Supply Chain

Retail

Subsidiaries

Top fruit
Soft fruit
Greenhouse
vegetables
Rich soil produce
Mushrooms

Supply Chain
Management

Naturelle
(organic)

Hollander
Barendrecht

Distribution
centres

Account
management

Hoogsteder
Group

Import (Hagé,
Dalice, España)

Dijco

Marketing/
E-commerce

Wagenaar
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Naturelle

Dalice

Naturelle specialises in the purchase and sale of organic fruit
and vegetables, and obtains its products from both Coforta
growers and external suppliers. Naturelle supplies an organic
range to the retail segment all year round. Besides supplying
supermarkets, Naturelle serves organic food shops,
wholesalers and food service businesses in the Netherlands
and elsewhere.

Dalice Qingdao Trading Company (Dalice) is a trading
company established in China which mainly focuses on
sourcing garlic and ginger. Dalice also offers strategic value in
terms of selling Dutch products on the Chinese market.

LOGISTICAL SERVICES
Logistical Services is the pillar for business units and
subsidiaries where commercial services qualify as the primary
activity. This pillar includes the following companies:

Hoogsteder Group
The companies in the Hoogsteder Group specialise in the sale
of fruit and vegetables in southern Europe, the Middle East,
the USA and the Far East. Hoogsteder Groenten en Fruit
supplies supermarket chains in France and Italy and
wholesalers in Spain. In France, Hoogsteder has the highest
sales from the Netherlands of all Dutch exporters. E. van den
Berg & Zonen (Van den Berg) is a specialist company focused
on Switzerland and Austria. Greenery Produce is focused on
the Middle East, the USA and Japan. Hoogsteder has its own
logistics centre in Bleiswijk.

Hollander Barendrecht
As a supply chain partner, Hollander is responsible for all
logistics associated with the entire refrigerated and fresh
product range for PLUS Retail. From the state-of-the-art
distribution centre for fresh produce in Barendrecht and with a
fleet of 110 lorries, Hollander supplies 3,000 different
products to 262 PLUS supermarkets every day.

Fresh Fulfilment

J.H. Wagenaar
The Dutch wholesaler in fresh produce, J.H. Wagenaar focuses
on fresh stockpile produce and rich soil products. J. H.
Wagenaar also supplies products for industrial enterprises.

Fresh Fulfilment was formed during the reporting year. This
new company is a service provider which provides full
logistical services for fresh produce for its clients, in the B2B
and also the B2C channels. Fresh Fulfilment secured its first
client in 2018.

Logistical solutions

Logistics

14

Growers

Logistics

Import

Logistics

Third parties

Logistics
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Distribution centre

Logistics

E-commerce

Packaging

Distribution centre

Retail

Consumer

Dijco

EXPLOITATION & DEVELOPMENT

Internationaal Transportbedrijf Dijco B.V. (Dijco) arranges all
inbound and outbound transport activities on behalf of The
Greenery. With its modern fleet of 50 Dijco lorries and around
100 chartered vehicles, the company transports fresh produce
from growers directly to clients and to distribution centres and
from distribution centres to clients in the Netherlands,
Germany, the United Kingdom, France and other EU Member
States. Dijco also transports packaging materials to growers
and has, for several decades, arranged the transport of other
consumer products and food labels as return freight for a
number of leading international businesses.

Exploitation & Development covers all activities that support
the Greenery Group or contribute to its further development,
such as the exploitation of specific assets.

Greenery Vastgoed operates the real estate owned by The
Greenery. As such, this unit is responsible for internal leases of
real estate and leases to third parties. Greenery Vastgoed also
facilitates all other real estate activities on behalf of The
Greenery.

Blue Sky Cargo

Sweet Sensation

Trading under the name Blue Sky Cargo, Disselkoen Airfreight
B.V. is part of Hoogsteder Group. An independent air-freight
carrier, Blue Sky Cargo specialises in the transportation of
perishable goods such as fruit, vegetables, flowers and plants.

Via three companies – Goeie Peer, Licensed Varieties Editors
BV (LVE) and New Sensations BV – The Greenery holds the
licence for growing and marketing a unique pear variety called
‘Rode Doyenne van Doorn’ (RDvD), which is sold under the
brand name Sweet Sensation. The RDvD pear has licencees in
ten countries, including the Netherlands, Argentina and Chile.

Greenery Vastgoed (Real Estate)

PTLA
The Greenery is the owner of PTLA Holding Participacões LTDA
(PTLA), a mango production and packaging company in Brazil.

Euro Pool System International
The Greenery has an indirect interest (26%) in Euro Pool
System (EPS) through its holding company
Verpakkingsbedrijven B.V. EPS is the market leader in reusable
packaging in the European fresh fruit and vegetables chain.

Erwin van der Graaf
The Greenery's information manager
'Digital transformation is set to play a major rule
in the fruit and vegetable market and change our
approach in the years ahead. Clients and growers
are becoming increasingly digitised and expect
the same from us. That's why it is important that
we invest in the digitisation of our organisation
and focus on data-driven innovations that
provide added value for our clients.'

2018 Annual Report of The Greenery B.V.
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THE CONTEXT IN WHICH WE OPERATE
KEY SALES MARKETS
The Greenery Group sells fruit and vegetables to 52 countries.
The Netherlands, Germany, the United Kingdom and France
are the key markets. We are increasing our focus on Belgium
and Scandinavia as well.
Geographic spread
Fruit & Vegetable Trade

Logistical Services

Exploitation & Development

The Greenery

TG

H

Hollander

GP

Goeie Peer

Hagé International

HI

D

Dijco

LV

LVE

Naturelle

N

BS

Blue Sky Cargo

NS

New Sensation

Fresh Fulfilment

GV

Greenery Vastgoed

Hoogsteder Groep

HG

Greenery Produce

GP

Van den Berg

VB

Wagenaar

W

Greenery UK/APS

UK
GD

Greenery France

Greenery Deutschland

GF

D

GI

GS

LA

Fruit & Vegetable Trade
Logistical Services
Exploitation & Development
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PTLA

Greenery Italia

Greenery España

Dalice

TRENDS AND DEVELOPMENTS

Chain

General

The fruit and vegetable chain was heavily influenced by the
past year's hot summer and warm autumn. The consequences
of the drought can be seen in all sectors. The impact on
production and pricing varies considerably from one product
group to another, but the drought has left deep scars. Climate
change means there will be challenges in the years to come.
With the historical data and new data from cultivation,
weather models and sales figures available, The Greenery is
better able to respond effectively to climate change and
extreme weather and therefore better positioned to
accommodate fluctuations in supply and demand. Countering
global warming, the rising energy costs and the further
expansion of scale in the horticultural sector necessitate
sustainable innovations in the area of energy consumption
and CO2 emissions. The requirements set by retailers and
consumers with regard to products produced using safe and
sustainable growing methods are forcing the sector to take
further steps, thus pushing up production costs. As well as
introducing PlanetProof and IDH, The Greenery is also making
further efforts in the area of sustainable packaging
alternatives. Alongside the purpose it serves in protecting
products and preserving their shelf life, it is also important
that packaging is 100% recyclable and bio-based. Driven by
the efficiency required, unnecessary links are being excluded
from the chain. In part owing to the increasingly strained
labour market and lack of available staff, robotisation is
making up ground in the horticultural sector.

Expectations are that the strong economic growth seen in the
past year will decline in 2019 and 2020. The main cause of this
weakening is the smaller increase in exports compared with
previous years owing to the rise in value of the euro, which is
making Dutch products more expensive in other countries.
The slowdown in world trade growth is another factor.
Although economic prospects remain favourable, the trade
conflict between the USA and China as well as Brexit are
creating uncertainty. Influenced by these developments,
consumer confidence decreased in 2018.

Retail
Supermarkets' sales volumes in the Netherlands rose last year
by 2.9%, with turnover growing by 3.9%. Retailers also
benefited from the warm and sunny weather. In the summer
months, turnover was up 8–9% on the same period in 2017.
European markets are posting the same growth figures and
are expected to grow by 3.7% by 2022. Germany is
experiencing the largest growth. There was substantial
demand for fresh convenience products such as soups, salads,
fresh produce packs and barbecue products. The fresh
produce packs have proved a valuable addition to the fruit and
vegetable range and are now the most successful fresh
product introduced over the past few years. We have seen a
further rise in the trend towards convenience food in other
European countries as well. In addition, the importance of fruit
and vegetables to retailers is increasing further still,
particularly on account of the higher margins and the
opportunity to stand out in the market. Further growth in the
retail sector is again expected in the coming years. Over the
past few years, supermarkets have started sharpening their
focus on the experience aspect of freshness and are helping
consumers adopt healthy lifestyles to a greater extent than
before. Retailers will focus on sustainability (packaging and
growing methods), the use of data (client data, artificial
intelligence and machine learning) and technology in shops to
help consumers with their shopping and the omnichannel
system in the years ahead. Convenience has become a service
The Greenery intends to provide. By investing in
comprehensive consumer surveys and market analyses, we are
in a position to help retailers to adapt the fruit and vegetable
side of their businesses to their clients' requirements. The
Greenery is also developing innovations that focus on the
consumer. By collaborating actively with online distributors of
fruit and vegetables, The Greenery is evolving into a specialist
for this channel.

Consumers
Consumers are increasingly aware of the importance of
healthy and sustainable food. The impact of the hot summer
on fruit and vegetable growing did not escape their attention
either, due to the coverage it received in the media. This has
increased consumers' pursuit of healthy and sustainable food.
They are opting for 'second-choice' and organic products.
Consumers have less time and have become more discerning.
They opt for convenience and do more and more of their
shopping online, with fruit and vegetables making up an ever
greater part of the orders they place. We have also seen the
pursuit of convenience reflected in the sharp rise in sales of
soup boxes, meal boxes and ready meals. Their desire for a
healthier diet makes them open to new experiences and
support. If consumers are provided with a good product range
and service, they will be prepared to pay more. The Greenery
keeps up with changing consumer preferences through
regular trend analyses, consumer panels and an annual
consumer survey. The insights gained through this process are
applied to develop new concepts and innovations proposals
for ranges.

2018 Annual Report of The Greenery B.V.
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STRATEGY AND VALUE CREATION
With the help of its growers, The Greenery adds value to fresh fruit and vegetables.
Indeed, that is our mission. The Greenery contributes to a healthy society through
the sustainable and safe cultivation of tasty fruit and vegetables, product
innovations, technological developments and collaboration within the chain.
GROWING TOGETHER STRATEGY FOR
2017-2022
The Greenery aims to grow together with its clients and
growers. We can achieve this by further increasing our focus
on the client, emphasising an integrated approach to the
supply chain, and adding maximum value to our products and
services: Growing Together.
When it comes to fruit and vegetables, most added value is
created in the retail sector. The retail channel offers The
Greenery the greatest opportunities to add value, partly
through logistical and supply chain solutions. As a result, The
Greenery is focused on servicing this crucial channel as best as
possible. The Greenery as director of the chain, offering an
optimally efficient process from grower to client.

STRATEGIC PILLARS
The Greenery's growth strategy is based on five pillars:
cooperation, quality, innovation, digitisation and
sustainability.

Cooperation
The Greenery adds value to fruit and vegetables through
cooperation with its clients, growers, suppliers, partners and
employees. Cooperation involves the sharing of knowledge,
experience and information. This allows us to keep moving
forward, time and time again. Cooperation is key in an
evermore rapidly changing world.

Quality
Our products and services meet all applicable requirements
and – where possible – exceed our clients' expectations.
Quality is key to all The Greenery's activities. Indeed, it is the
basis for our success. Quality ensures satisfied clients and
lower costs. To this end, The Greenery focuses on optimising
processes, for example by means of the Lean methodology. We
also minimise operations associated with processes that do
not add value. Furthermore, we ensure optimal
communication with our clients, growers and suppliers.

18
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Innovation
The Greenery focuses primarily on facilitating retail clients by
proactively anticipating their needs, such as inventory
forecasts and orders. The basic innovation of primary
processes through the digitisation of trading activities and
other measures is also important in this regard. Our product
innovations are designed to encourage consumers to eat more
fruit and vegetables.

Digitisation
The Greenery is becoming a relevant digital player in the fruit
and vegetable market by making data a key asset. New digital
solutions and business models are developed by tracking our
clients' journeys with a digital mindset. Existing business
processes are also being digitised.

Sustainability
Sustainability has been a key part of The Greenery's strategy
for years. In line with the Sustainable Development Goals
adopted by the United Nations, we consider people and the
environment throughout the chain and aim to create creating
a healthier world, both today and for future generations. Our
sustainability policies are based on four key pillars: Grower &
Product, Logistical Chain, Employees and Society.

AMBITIONS AND STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES
The Greenery aims to evolve into the partner of choice for
retailers in the Netherlands and abroad. The focus is on the
Netherlands, Germany, the United Kingdom, Scandinavia,
France and Belgium. Long-term value creation on the basis of
an efficient process – from grower to client – is key (chain
management). This structural collaboration along with our
commercial focus ensure the continuity of sales and
willingness to invest on the growers' side, while helping us to
optimally meet clients' needs and add value to products and
services.
The past few years have seen The Greenery invest in
distribution centres, supplier stock locations and employees.
In order to finance these investments and safeguard the

Positioning
The Greenery Group provides its clients with an extensive range of fruit and vegetables. We do so by constantly
optimising the chain, innovating our products and services, and ensuring that sustainability and digitisation are anchored
in our operations.

continuity of its operations, The Greenery has set itself the
target of revenue growth with the ambition of realising a
healthy net profit.

THE VALUE CHAIN
In its capacity as director of the chain, The Greenery strives to
create sustainable value for its immediate stakeholders and
contribute to a healthier world. Our value chain – as depicted
on the next page – provides a broader context to The
Greenery's long-term value creation strategy.
External trends, developments, risks and opportunities all
affect our business model. The Greenery adds value to fruit
and vegetables for the consumer market through the
application of safe growing methods. In the process, we also
create value for our members.

Sepha Smit
Unit manager of Vers PLUS Retail
'High-quality, delicious, healthy and affordable
food is the key element for PLUS Retail. This is
good for consumers and for the environment. We
work closely with our fresh produce suppliers in
this respect. Together with The Greenery, we
provide a daily supply of sustainably grown fresh
fruit and vegetables of the finest quality that as
far as possible reflects the wishes of our clients.'

2018 Annual Report of The Greenery B.V.
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Value chain
INPUT

OUTPUT

OUTCOME

Start
• 375 member companies united in Coöperatie
Coforta
• 1,490 grower and trade companies from the
Netherlands and abroad

Products
• 538 million kg traded products (279
different products)
• Prices for growers in line with the
market

By supplying fresh products, The
Greenery and its growers contribute
to a healthy society and therefore to
SDGs 2 and 3.

Human capital
• 1,144 FTEs

Sales
• EUR 992 million net turnover
• EUR 2.0 million net result
• Export to 52 countries

The Greenery invests in its people
by investing in their health and
development and therefore
contributes towards SDGs 3 and 8.

Innovations
• Convenience single-serve packaging
for blueberries
• Sweet and Sunny soft fruit
• Innovation manager appointed
• Various start-ups

The Greenery focuses on innovation
to be able to respond to tomorrow's
challenges and continue adding value
for customers and consumers.

Physical capital
• Approx. 100,000 m2 of distribution centres (incl.
Hollander)
• Modern trucks (5 ultra-long trucks, 45 tractor
units and 130 semi-trailers)
Digital capital
• ERP
• Fresh Harvest (Verse Oogst)
• Big data
• Portals
Intellectual capital
• Strong brands
• Decades of know-how and experience in the
food and agricultural sectors
Natural capital
• 20,620,190 kWh total consumption,
• 2,066,073 kWh of which through solar energy
• 223,362 m3 gas consumption
• 8.6 million litres diesel consumption

Digital
• 850,000 consumers inspired every
month with recipes and information
through verseoogst.nl
• 487,651 order lines through EDI
Sustainability
• 60% Planet Proof-certified cultivation
• 10% of energy through solar panels
• 9,700 solar panels
• 55% home-based transshipment

In doing so, we are contributing to
SDG 12. The Greenery takes account
of people and the environment in its
every step. This is how we contribute
to a healthy world – for people today
and for future generations. It is also
our contribution to SDG 13.
-> For more information about
the Sustainable Development
Goals (SDGs), see the chapter on
Sustainability

Financial capital
• EUR 13.3 million net investments
• EUR 290 million balance sheet total
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Mission & Vision (WHY) Strategy (HOW)
With the help of its
growers, The Greenery
adds value to fresh
Cooperation Digitisation
fruit and vegetables
and contributes to a
healthier society and
sustainable and safe
Quality
Sustainability
cultivation
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Core activities (WHAT)
• Supply chain management: linking
supply and demand, with the customer
taking centre stage
• Quality & Environment: Ensuring
sustainable and safe growing methods
• Logistics & Distribution: maximum
facilitation of transport, packaging and
storage
• Sales: Specialised market approach and
close collaboration
• Marketing & Innovation: Intelligence,
product and concept development,
process innovation and digitisation

PROGRESS IN 2018
For The Greenery, the 2018 reporting year was marked by extreme weather
conditions. Although this had a substantial impact on affected business operations,
it did not stop us from focusing on our strategic objective of transforming the
organisation into a digital director of the chain.
The activities carried out in 2018 included:
• formulating a new commercial strategy and the associated
organisational measures;
• further professionalising our relationship with growers
(members);
• optimising logistical services with the construction of new
distribution centres for The Greenery and the Hoogsteder
Group;
• working on collaborative partnerships for growth;
• developing a digital vision;
• robotisation and artificial intelligence.

COMMERCIAL STRATEGY
The client takes centre stage in the Growing Together
strategy. In 2018, that basic principle was elaborated in a new
commercial strategy and the associated commercial
organisation will be brought further into line with it in 2019.
We will also be using a single central commercial approach,
differentiated according to the different market and client
groups.

FURTHER PROFESSIONALISING
COOPERATION WITH GROWERS
The strategic goal is to develop and professionalise the
present group of growers, transforming them into competitive
and robust growers. A long-term business relationship is
being built up and maintained with those growers through the
introduction of suppliers management, account management
and close cooperation in areas including production,
sustainability and innovation. This will enable optimum
alignment of supply and client demand.

OPTIMUM LOGISTICS
The second phase of the construction of the distribution
centre in Barendrecht was completed in the reporting year and
a start made on phase 3 (the final phase). This final phase is
scheduled to be completed in the first quarter of 2019 after
which The Greenery's logistical activities in Bleiswijk and for
Naturelle will be integrated in the distribution centre in
Barendrecht. This will create a far more efficient chain.

The year 2018 also saw the start of the construction of a new
office and distribution centre for the Hoogsteder Group in
Bleiswijk. This new facility, which is scheduled to be completed
in mid-2019, will accommodate all the Hoogsteder Group
units, enabling it to operate more efficiently and effectively.

COOPERATIVE PARTNERSHIPS FOR
GROWTH
We explored various possibilities for cooperative partnerships
for growth in 2018. This resulted in a partnership with the UK's
APS Group. APS is the biggest supplier of tomatoes in the UK.
The partnership involves a participation in A Pearson Holdings
Ltd and a supply contract with APS Produce Ltd under which
vegetable fruit is supplied to British retailers. The first
commercial successes were posted in 2018.
In 2017, research was started to set up an investment fund
intended to provide the greenhouse horticultural sector with
risk-bearing capital for further expansion of scale, supply
chain management, sustainability and innovation purposes.
The Greenery initiated this project and looked for external
capital providers. During the reporting year, it became clear
that finding investors for this fund was being hampered by
unfamiliarity with the sector, causing them to be cautious
about committing resources for the fund. Therefore it was
decided to stop the search for investors for the time being.
Meanwhile, a number of investment possibilities have been
identified and will be examined in more detail.

DIGITISATION
In 2018, The Greenery developed a vision which is
commensurate with its role as digital director of the chain.
That vision includes, among other things, digitising current
processes and client experiences and developing new digital
revenue models. It builds on The Greenery's various earlier
initiatives, such as GreenChain, the new Growers Portal, and
The Greenery Market client portal. Investments have also been
made in knowledge and systems, including data systems, for
the further implementation of our vision. This means The
Greenery will increasingly be able to base its decision-making
on algorithms or use them to assist with the decision-making
process.
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ROBOTISATION AND ARTIFICIAL
INTELLIGENCE
As well as digitising the various business processes, we have
also invested in robotisation at the distribution centres.
Robots have taken over, in particular, work involving repetitive
actions, such as stacking and destacking and packaging. In
addition, trials involving a combination of robotisation and
artificial intelligence where camera footage is used for sorting
and weighing were carried out in 2018. The computer refines
its algorithms further still on the basis of that footage.
The reporting year also saw work start on Robotic Process
Automation, which involves a computer being programmed to
perform repetitive administrative processes. This increases
the quality of the output, as well as efficiency.

GDPR
We have been working on making our information security
policy even more professional for some time now. The
introduction of the new EU privacy legislation, the General
Data Protection Regulation (GDPR), was an important topic in
2018. The following measures were implemented in 2018 to
ensure compliance with the GDPR:
• We created a processing register in which all personal data
are recorded, including the purpose for which they were
processed, the grounds for processing them and the
retention period.

Mattijs Vinkesteijn
Strategic project manager at The Greenery
'Over the past year we developed a client portal –
the first entry point where our clients can find
everything they need to know about their orders,
such as the order status, and also ask questions
or request a residue analysis. In this way,
improved information provision and more
efficient processes are guaranteed for our
clients.'
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• A privacy officer who is responsible for maintaining the
processing register was appointed.
• A privacy statement was added to the company websites so
that visitors can see which data are stored and what The
Greenery does with these.
• Privacy regulations were drawn up for employees and
information sessions organised to raise awareness in
relation to privacy and information security.
• Processing agreements were concluded with parties
processing personal data at The Greenery's behest.
• Explicit agreements were made regarding safeguarding the
proper security of information.

BUSINESS UNIT RESULTS
The reporting structure of The Greenery Group reflects its various business units
that focus on Fruit & Vegetable Trade, Logistical Services and Exploitation &
Development respectively.
FRUIT & VEGETABLE TRADE

Hoogsteder Group

Fruit & Vegetable trade was dominated by an exceptionally
long period of hot dry weather in the reporting year. The
extreme weather had an impact on the availability (volume)
and quality of the fruit and vegetables supplied, as well as
demand for them. This resulted in a highly volatile market with
erratic pricing. Added to that are the extra costs necessarily
incurred to resolve the quality problems in the products
supplied. Alongside the weather's impact, the continued
consolidation of both the supply and the demand side
intensified competition in the market.

The Hoogsteder Group achieved a positive result in 2018,
following an extraordinarily challenging year. The hot summer,
in particular, caused substantial damage to crops (often under
contracts). This meant the availability of products was
sometimes limited at the very moment they were in demand.
Alternative products were often unavailable and qualityrelated issues made for several difficult periods. The
bankruptcy of the carrier, Mooy Logistics, also proved very
problematic. Van den Berg (Switzerland), in particular,
achieved outstanding results, while Italy and France proved
highly competitive and challenging in 2018. Greenery Produce
(Overseas) also maintained its position in 2018. Construction
of a new distribution centre and office commenced, which is
scheduled for completion in mid-2019.

The Greenery
The developments in the fruit and vegetable market in 2018
had an impact on The Greenery's results, with both sales and
net profit results lagging behind those achieved in 2017.
Constant attempts to make cost-related adjustments were
made throughout the reporting year, but this did not always
prove straightforward. The Logistics department had to
contend with collective labour agreement (CAO) pay rises of
3% on average. In part prompted by the persistent scarcity in
the labour market, work started on robotisation both in the
distribution centres and in administrative processes in 2018.
Despite the difficult market conditions, The Greenery achieved
a growth in sales with its Dutch retail clients in 2018. Where
possible, special client-focused account teams make life
easier for clients and create opportunities to stimulate fruit
and vegetable sales. One example is the development of meal
packages, which reflect the trend towards more convenience
seen among consumers. The focus on the ready-to-eat
segment is also based on that trend. In addition, import
activities showed marked improvements compared with 2017.

Naturelle

J.H. Wagenaar
The 2018 results were broadly positive, especially given the
circumstances of 2018 – a year generally described as very
difficult for the fruit & vegetable sector. Volume decreased
slightly compared with 2017, but thanks to prices that were
on average higher, sales in 2018 exceeded the level achieved
in 2017. There was oversupply of 'stapelproducten' (produce
types stockpiled in warehouses for later sale) on the European
market in the early part of the year, resulting in a reduction in
the volume of sales and lower prices. The consequences of this
remained evident until the start of the new harvest season. For
the new crop, the hot summer produced a turnaround in the
situation regarding produce stockpiled in warehouses
(stapelproduct) and an enormous shortage in European
supply. This resulted in smaller volumes and higher prices for
these products. The same was true of the industry segment.
The successful expansion in 2017 of the ERP system resulted
in greater insight and better data exchange between the
various business units in 2018.

Naturelle had a difficult start to the year, in part owing to
lower staffing levels. It also had to contend with a heavy
downpour in Barendrecht in the spring that caused part of the
distribution centre to collapse and complicated logistical
operations. The results of the improvement plans put in place
gradually became visible in the course of the year. The
damage to the property was repaired in the fourth quarter.
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LOGISTICAL SERVICES

Hollander Barendrecht
Hollander Barendrecht grew further still in 2018. That said, it
did have higher operating costs to contend with, brought
about by, among other things, shortages on the labour market
and increased volatility on the fruit & vegetable market. The
number of logistical metres will be extended to facilitate
further growth. To this end, the agreement with PLUS was
revised in respect of this aspect and extended at the same
time. Further initiatives were launched in 2018 with a view to
broadening the client base.

Blue Sky Cargo

Goeie Peer B.V. / Licensed Varieties
Editors / New Sensations
The results of these three companies remained stable.
Investments were made in 2018 to increase the production
rates of existing acreage. In addition, many initiatives aimed at
increasing acreage further in both the Northern Hemisphere
and the Southern Hemisphere have been launched.

Produce and Trading Latin America
(PTLA)
PTLA was hit by the consequences of water shortages in the
last few years, which meant that not all plots could be put into
production. That negative impact was offset in part by cost
reductions. The water situation improved greatly during 2018.

Blue Sky Cargo had to accept a break-even result in 2018 as
the maximum attainable given the lower volumes it was able
to transport by air freight. The year 2018 was the last
involving inefficiencies resulting from operations being
carried out at a number of different locations. This will be a
thing of the past once the new building is put into use in
mid-2019, when efficient logistical operations will commence.

Dijco
The volume of goods transported by Dijco was substantially
greater in 2018 than in 2017. This is entirely due to the
transport orders from The Greenery. The proportion
transported by The Greenery's own fleet increased by 0.7% in
the reporting year. The vehicles' loading rate rose by 0.2% in
2018. Five new Ultra-Long Lorries (LZVs: Lange en Zwaardere
Vrachtwagens) and two tractor units were purchased in 2018.
The tractor units are fitted with a new cooling system using
their residual energy. The upshot is a positive contribution
towards reducing CO2 emissions. The year 2019 will see
further efforts aimed at increasing the volume carried by our
own fleet. The shortage on the labour market, however, will
make this a challenge.

EXPLOITATION & DEVELOPMENT

Greenery Vastgoed (Real Estate)
The second part of the Retail distribution centre in
Barendrecht was completed by WDP in 2018. Thereafter, work
started on phase 3 of the construction of the new building,
which is scheduled for completion in early 2019. In mid-2018,
WDP started building the new distribution centre for the
Hoogsteder Group. It is scheduled for completion in
mid-2019.
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Remco Duijvestijn
Tomato grower
'GreenChain was developed in collaboration with
users, including growers. In particular, ease of
use, and therefore efficiency, too, has improved
substantially. The GreenChain portal now
provides a better overview than it used to. It also
provides a far clearer idea of the various charges
and consumption entailed in a transaction.'

SUSTAINABILITY
The Greenery's ambition is to make sustainably grown fruit and vegetables
accessible and affordable to everyone. Together with our growers and supply chain
partners we contribute to a healthy and responsible lifestyle. We strive to minimise
our impact on the environment.
RELEVANT SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT
GOALS

THE GREENERY'S SUSTAINABILITY
STRATEGY

Our ambition means that we adhere to the Sustainable
Development Goals (SDGs) which form the international
framework for tackling poverty, inequality and climate change
by 2030 for the 193 UN member countries. The Greenery has
its own way of contributing to these goals.

Sustainability has been an integrated part of our business
operations for years. At the end of 2015 we formulated our
current sustainability strategy for 2020, which sets out our
ambitions in this regard. In 2018, our sustainability strategy
was reinforced and further extended and in 2019, new goals
will be set for 2022..
The Greenery's sustainability goals for 2022 are outlined as
follows:
• 100% sustainable certification (social and environmental).
• Maximum valorisation of product flows (processing residual
flows as sustainably as possible).
• Transparent communication with our environment.
• Reduction of CO2 emissions.
• Promoting the consumption of fruit and vegetables.
• Ensuring employee safety, health and development.
• Using sustainable packaging materials.

The following SDGs are relevant to The Greenery:
End hunger, achieve food security and improved
nutrition, and promote sustainable agriculture
Ensure healthy lives and promote well-being for all at
all ages
Promote sustained, inclusive and sustainable
economic growth, full and productive employment
and decent work for all
Ensure sustainable consumption and production
patterns
Take urgent action to combat climate change and its
impacts

The key aspects of our sustainability policy are as follows:
• Sustainably feeding the world's growing population based
on quality, safety and with a minimum impact on nature.
• Making fresh fruit and vegetables accessible and
affordable.
• Prices in line with the market for our members and
suppliers.
Sustainability is one of The Greenery's strategic pillars. Our
employees are already implementing the company's
sustainability policy in everyday practice. Composed of the
Sourcing, Quality and Environment, Logistics, Retail,
Marketing and HRM departments, the Sustainability steering
group will jointly set out the sustainability policy and the
objectives for 2022 and monitor achievement of the
objectives. Sustainability is a fixed item on the agenda of
management team meetings.
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SUSTAINABILITY POLICY PROGRESS
In order to enhance transparency we have incorporated the
sustainability report into the annual report. Our sustainability
policy hinges on four pillars:

Pillar 1: Growers and products
Our growers' products have been cultivated with due regard
for people and the environment. All our members and
suppliers are certified according to social responsibility
standards selected by us, and also work in accordance with
our food safety and environmental standards.
The Greenery co-signed the Sustainable Trade Initiative (IDH:
Initiatief Duurzame Handel), along with various industry peers
and buyers in the Netherlands. This covenant is helping to
increase the sustainability of international trade chains. Our
objective is to purchase all our products in social risk countries
sustainably by 2020, and to ensure suppliers' production
methods comply with IDH-approved standards. The Greenery
endeavours to provide guidance to its suppliers abroad on
these guidelines and will initiate programmes with
international suppliers to assist them in meeting an approved
standard.
In 2019 we will be focusing on our Chinese garlic suppliers.
More than 1,000 small growers will be providing them with
produce. The supplier is currently in the process of certifying
those growers in accordance with IDH criteria, but this will
take time. The Greenery is working with its suppliers to
accelerate this process.
We encourage our growers to operate as sustainably as
possible, for instance by publishing all our sustainability
initiatives on the Verse Oogst website, in order to provide
clients and consumers with information on our sustainable
growers. For further details, see Verse Oogst. In addition, we
are working together with our clients to create awareness for
the sustainable working methods used by our growers. In so
doing, The Greenery is contributing to SDGs 6, 12 and 13.

PlanetProof
As from 2019, the PlanetProof quality mark (formerly
'Milieukeur') will be a requirement for growers who supply fruit
and vegetable products to the Dutch retail segment. The
certificate helps growers demonstrate that they grow produce
sustainably. There are requirements relating to water, waste,
energy and crop protection. The Greenery actively assists its
growers in transitioning to PlanetProof. It is vital to properly
inform growers and provide them with the tools they need to
implement the quality mark. The number of growers within
The Greenery already in possession of the PlanetProof quality
mark is rising rapidly. In 2018, 60% of growers was
PlanetProof-certified (end of 2017: 41%). Expectations are
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that all growers supplying clients who favour PlanetProofcertified produce will be certified by the end of 2019. The
PlanetProof certificate contributes to SDGs 6, 7, 12, 13 and 15
(see the PlanetProof website).

Pillar 2: Logistical chain
The Greenery continuously seeks to enhance the sustainability
of the supply chain. Logistical processes are central to our
business operations. We gear those processes to our clients'
needs at minimum cost and with the smallest possible
environmental impact. The drive towards making those
processes even more efficient and investing in sustainable
means of production makes a valuable contribution to our
sustainability policy. This is reflected, for example, in lower CO2
emissions, lower fuel consumption, less waste and smart use
of residual flows. In this way, The Greenery is contributing to
SDG 12 and SDG 13.

Reduction of CO2 emissions
Within the logistical chain, we continuously apply
economically feasible initiatives aimed at reducing CO2
emissions. The new-build programme 'Building for the future'
was initiated in 2016, and we have put three new distribution
centres into operation since then. Solar panels will be installed
on these distribution centres in phases. Approximately 9,700
solar panels have been installed on the RDC in Barendrecht
and at the site in Breda (2017: 4,600). The energy generated
by these panels will be used for technical installations, reach
trucks, cooling, etc. Around 10% of our energy need will be
generated by our own solar panels by 2020. In addition to
solar panels, investments will be made in making operations
more sustainable by:
• investing in the Dijco fleet through the acquisition of an
ultra-long lorry and two refrigerated vans with a view to
optimising the loading rate;
• acquiring and using additional pallet jacks to reduce
loading and unloading times;
• investing in TRS refrigeration, a brake energy recovery
system and new tractor units with a view to reducing fuel
consumption;
• investing in a modern and sustainable distribution centre
for the Hoogsteder Group in Bleiswijk;
• further consolidating logistical activities;
• monitoring and minimising long-distance transport
between locations;
• investing in robotisation.

Robotisation
The Greenery invested in robotisation in 2018. Having
thoroughly investigated and identified the options available
for robotisation within the logistical processes in the
distribution centres, a number of practical tests were carried
out during the reporting year to study the use of robotisation.
In part motivated by the relatively high level of sick leave

owing to heavy and repetitive work, the robotisation process
will mainly be used from an ergonomic perspective; people
always have priority. Based on the results of the study, we
expect the first robots to be deployed in 2019.

Home-based transshipment
Home-based transshipment of Dutch produce decreased in
2018 to 55% (61% in 2017). This decline can be attributed to
a sharp decrease in the volume of hard fruit available in the
2017-2018 season. We apply home-based transshipment
whenever it has a positive effect on supply chain costs or
environmental impact. This represents a substantial reduction
in transport movements, fuel consumption and CO2 emissions,
which implies lower supply chain costs.

Commuting expenses and lease vehicles
Only vehicles with an A, B or C label are contracted for the
lease vehicle fleet. We also promote the use of the mobility
budget rather than a lease vehicle so that employees can
individually decide whether to travel by public transport,
potentially combined with their private car.

Waste
Every year, The Greenery finds itself with produce that cannot
be sold through commercial channels. That produce is sold to
outlet clients, offered to the Voedselbank (Food Bank) or is
considered for destruction. In 2018 the percentage of waste
per kilogram of products delivered remained at the same level
as in 2017, namely 1.9%.

Pillar 4: Society
The Greenery aims to contribute to a healthier society by
making fruit and vegetables accessible and affordable. It is
essential therefore to collect information on and analyse
trends and consumer preferences and to develop concepts
that tie in with these trends. We also promote the
consumption of fruit and vegetables in accordance with the
Netherlands Nutrition Centre (Voedingscentrum) standards.
The Greenery aims to achieve this goal by implementing the
measures and initiatives listed below and at the same time
contribute to SDG 3.
The Greenery introduced a number of successful innovations
in 2018. Single-serve packaging was introduced for
blueberries in early 2018. With convenient packaging
enabling a single portion, consumers can take a healthy snack
with them to school, work or the gym. The soft fruit brand
Sweet and Sunny was launched as well. Under that label The
Greenery supplies the best soft fruit available in the season
every year. The Best Fruit Friend campaign was launched in the
autumn of 2018 to raise the profile of the Sweet Sensation
pear further still. A comprehensive campaign on television
and social media and in shops has drawn attention to the pear.
The range of fresh produce packages was extended further to
include new soups and meals. New formulae for poached
pears and apple pie were also introduced.

The Greenery launched a project aimed at increasing the value
of residual flows in 2018. By improving the supply of products,
optimising stock management and targeting sales, the
number of returns has decreased. Twenty-four 'green belts'
have been trained over the past year to take up positions
within The Greenery and Hollander, this being with the aim of
optimising processes through efficiency and the first-timeright approach.

Pillar 3: Employees
The Greenery deals with all its employees in a sustainable
manner, promoting their safety, health and development.
Since long-term employability is in everybody's interest, it is a
shared responsibility of the employer and the employee.
Promoting awareness of this fact is an important element of
our employability policy. We strive to ensure that all our
employees are fit, enjoy their work and have the knowledge
and skills they need to perform their job. In so doing, The
Greenery is contributing to SDG 3.
For further details, see the section entitled 'Our employees'.

Arno Koot
Manager Pallets & Packaging
'The Greenery is making an active contribution to
the reduction of CO2 emissions, for example, by
reducing the weight of packaging materials and
switching to raw materials with a lower
environmental impact. We and our clients are
faced with the challenge of keeping consumers
as fully informed as possible with regard to the
processing of waste packaging materials.'
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The Fresh Harvest (Verse Oogst) platform enjoyed stable
growth in 2018. The number of visitors and followers
increased via the website and also social media. Further
efforts during the past year to inspire consumers were made
via several themed campaigns, including the Summer Fruit
Festival (Zomer Fruit Festival), Apples and Pears (Appels met
Peren) and the Winter Vegetable Wonderland (Wintergroente
Wonderland) where the platform was used to share
information about growers and their produce, tips on how to
prepare food and unusual recipes.

Verse Oogst website 2018
•
•
•
•
•

More than 1 million website visitors in 2018
Nearly 55,000 Facebook fans
Nearly 5,000 followers on Instagram
Reach of over 850,000 monthly consumers
Third place in the vote for Website of the year 2018
in the Culinary category

In developing new concepts, The Greenery explicitly focuses
on the consumer. The Greenery collects information on eating
patterns, needs and preferences by conducting consumer
surveys involving over 3,000 respondents, analysing market
data and through trendwatching. These insights enable The
Greenery to incorporate the preferences of consumers into
innovations, concepts and product range recommendations.

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Target for 2022

GROWERS AND PRODUCTS
GlobalGAP-certified members 2020
GlobalGAP-certified suppliers 2020
GlobalGAP Risk Assessment on Social Practice (GRASP) certified
members
Suppliers in social risk countries certified in accordance with the
Sustainable Trade Initiative (IDH)
Number of growers participating in Bee Deals by 2020
PlanetProof
LOGISTICAL CHAIN
Highest number of certifications in warehouses (BRC, GMP, HACCP)
Transport-related CO2 emissions (g/km)
Fall in CO2 emissions from gas and electricity at distribution centres
(kg)2
Home-based transshipment for Dutch products
SOCIETY
Promotional activities
Monthly visitors to verseoogst.nl
Number of members of the Facebook community
Innovations per annum

100%
100%
100%

Achieved in
2018

Achieved in 2017

100%
100%
100%

100%
100%
100%

100%

69%1

70%1

30
100%

23
60%

23
41%

100%
889

100%
868

+8%

−2.6%

55%

61%

4
125,000
55,000
7

3
125,000
50,000
5

100%
to be determined
in 2019
−10% relative to
2017
N/A

5
200,000
150,000
10

1 This is the percentage of our suppliers that hold, or have take demonstrable steps to achieve, IDH certification.
2 Due to the new real estate construction with WDP, a new situation has arisen as of 2018 with the processing of CO2 data. As a result, the figures for
2018 are not comparable to previous years.
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OUR EMPLOYEES
The world around us is changing faster than ever. We are responding to this as an
organisation by changing as well. In this way, we will be able to guarantee
profitability and sustainable growth in the long term. We are transforming ourselves
into a digital and sustainable supply chain manager which, through cooperation,
adds value for clients. This transformation requires a different approach and a
different way of behaving.
We need to adapt to every demand made of us internally and
by the outside world. We must ensure together that this is
done properly so that we remain successful in the market.
Emphasizing collaboration, independence and expert
knowledge, we have worked over the course of 2018 to
promote each of these aspects on many fronts within the
framework of our new strategy, 'Growing Together'.

DEVELOPMENTS IN 2018
The Greenery continued on the path towards organisational
growth and development in 2018. A willingness to learn and
to embrace change, flexibility and collaboration will be
expected of our employees and managers as we move towards
becoming a truly agile and digital organisation. We are turning
into an organisation with employees who are proactive and
self-managing, able to respond flexibly to opportunities that
arise in the near and more distant future, and are healthy and
enjoy working for The Greenery.

Employees by business unit
number of FTEs, year-end 2018
141

168

135
Total: 1,144
employees

700

Commercial
Foreign businesses

Logistics

With this cultural shift we are both providing a solid
foundation for our organisation as we develop into a more
dynamic and effective enterprise.

EMPLOYEE COMMITMENT SURVEY
In 2018, we conducted an Employee Commitment Survey to
establish a sound starting-point for the aforementioned
changes and to gain insight into the aspects our employees
believe we should develop. Some 57% of the employees
participated in this survey, the end result of which was a rating
of 6.7 for The Greenery as an employer. This is slightly lower
than the 'Best Employers' benchmark of 7.3, which we
therefore had no hesitation in using to set out our ambitions
for the coming years.
The survey revealed that employees place great importance
on feedback of their work. They also find it important that
managers fulfil a worthwhile role and are confident in their
abilities to lead. A number of important areas requiring
improvement were mentioned as a means of achieving this:
• Greater appreciation of employees.
• Better cooperation within The Greenery.
• Fewer barriers between teams.
• Greater openness about ongoing issues.
• A more rigorous approach regarding the quality of
employees.
Certain that employees themselves have very valuable
suggestions for specific improvements, we started work on the
results in focus groups, taking an interactive approach. Based
on the outcome of that work, the General Management drew
up an organisation-wide plan of action in which topics such as
the visibility of Management, feedback, cooperation, growth,
appreciation and transparency are set out in more specific
detail. A tool kit which managers used to start work on a
number of topics at unit and team level was also developed on
the basis of the focus group results.

Staff and service
units
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SICK LEAVE AND LONG-TERM
EMPLOYABILITY
The rate of absenteeism due to illness during the reporting
year was 5.6% (2017: 5.7%). The ageing workforce, combined
with the rise of the retirement age and the physical strain of
some of the work involved makes for an ever greater challenge
in keeping our employees healthy at work. For this reason,
there were several initiatives connected with sustainable
employability in 2018. It is important that everyone within the
organisation is aware that long-term employability is in
everyone's best interest and therefore a shared responsibility
of the employer and the employee.
A meeting was organised in April 2018 for employees eligible
for the partial retirement scheme for older employees
introduced during the reporting year. The Greenery is
promoting that scheme to ensure that employees remain
employable in the long term. Twenty employees made use of
the new partial retirement scheme for older employees in
2018.
Under the scheme, employees reduce their working hours to
80% while retaining 92.5% of their salary. An employee may
make use of the retirement scheme for older employees if he
or she meets the following criteria:
• will be entitled to old-age pension (AOW) within the next
five years;
• is covered by the collective labour agreement (CAO) for the
Fruit and Vegetable Wholesalers;
• has been working within the Fruit and Vegetable
Wholesalers sector for at least ten years.

The Greenery launched a comprehensive policy in 2018. That
is why we have set up internal and external partnerships and
named the following priorities for 2019, with vitality within
the logistics unit being of paramount importance:
• Training managers to enable them to identify signs of
potential sick leave.
• Providing a 'menu' for managers to increase employees'
vitality.
• Carrying out regular medical examinations for all
employees within the logistics unit.

DEVELOPMENT OF THE ORGANISATION
The Organisational Development Project was used in 2018 to
begin our transformation into an agile, sound and highachieving organisation, where employees and managers have
a common focus, take responsibility, make maximum use of
their talents and happily work on remaining relevant in the
market. We believe that an organisation structured along
these lines will accelerate our progress towards the
transformation into a digital, sustainable and collaborative
supply chain manager to which we aspire.
We are working on achieving this in a variety of ways: for
instance, we have helped existing projects to apply the basic
principles of agility and health. We are also working with
colleagues in all manner of ways to master a way of behaving
commensurate with an agile and healthy organisation.

Two secondary employment conditions have been added to
improve the work/life balance. Arrangements for taking a
sabbatical have been formalised and employees now have the
option of acquiring a maximum of five additional leave days
within the collective labour agreement (CAO) for the Fruit and
Vegetable Trade. The collective labour agreement (CAO) for
the Haulage Sector also provides the option of acquiring
additional leave days in the Personal Choice Budget.
The Greenery promotes long-term employability overall by
stimulating the health and safety of employees. Employees at
the distribution centres are a particularly vulnerable group
due to the physical demands that their work entails. Alongside
company emergency response team members, operational
safety experts were also appointed at those locations in both
2017 and 2018. Operational safety experts also ensure a
healthy and safe working environment with the facilities
available in and around the locations.
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Pieter Hoogeveen
Innovation Manager at The Greenery
'In a world of accelerating change, having
products and services that stand out from the
rest is essential if we are to maintain our
competitive edge. That's why, in line with our
mission, we are continuing to innovate to make
fruit and vegetables even more accessible and in
so doing contribute to a healthier society. I am
more than happy to be involved in this.'
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TALENT DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMMES

DIGITISING HR PROCESSES

About 40 colleagues participated in our talent development
programmes in 2018. The purpose was to improve leadership
skills and to promote personal development. Using, among
other things, various workshops, peer reviews, literature and
lectures given by guest speakers, they gained insights and
acquired skills they will be able to use as their careers progress
at The Greenery. With the insights and skills they have
acquired, these talented individuals will be able to make an
important contribution to our ambitions for the future.

In line with The Greenery's strategy, the Human Resources
department also made concrete progress towards further
digitisation of HR processes. Contractual agreements on
digitising work processes were made with our current partner,
ADP, in 2018. They will be rolled out further in 2019 and will
result specifically in an extensive digital self-service system for
all employees of The Greenery B.V. This efficient and effective
approach is necessary if we are to keep pace with an an
increasingly ever-changing environment.

TRAINEESHIPS

In addition, the digitisation of HR work processes will generate
a largely paperless work flow, something which will also
contribute to the sustainability of our organisation.

A two-year traineeship with Supply Chain Management (SCM)
was launched in 2018. The three trainees are given the
opportunity to find out for themselves what it is like to work
for a fruit and vegetable trade organisation and to learn how
SCM, Logistics & Transport work and how the department
operates. Through traineeships, we are preparing young
professionals who, from a broad perspective, will fulfil a
valuable role in the logistical side of our company.

PARTICIPATION ACT (PARTICIPATIEWET)
Within the context of the Participation Act, The Greenery
employed 21 FTEs with limited opportunities in the labour
market (2017: 21). Most of them were employed at the
Barendrecht DC. Structured and regular tasks such as
packaging, sorting, labelling and loading/unloading fruit and
vegetables help these people improve their chances in the
labour market. Most of them are quite enthusiastic and serve
as an example to others.
In this way, The Greenery met the jobs agreement from the
Participation Act with due regard for its own social
responsibility. Our in-house employment agency Olympia, was
nominated for the 1st Social Impact Award in recognition of its
efforts in this field. This resulted from the huge and successful
influx of candidates recruited by Olympia and the
Drechtsteden Municipal Social Service under the Participation
Act and employed at The Greenery. Olympia owed its
nomination to its alignment with the core values formulated
by the Drechtsteden Municipal Social Service: Peopleoriented, Innovative, Collaborative.

GENERAL DATA PROTECTION REGULATION
(GDPR)
HR is actively contributing to the GDPR. This is having an
impact on the way we deal with the personal data of
employees and third parties. We have adjusted our privacy
policy and code of conduct accordingly and created a
processing register. All employees have been informed by
letter of their rights and obligations under the GDPR.

CODE OF CONDUCT
The Greenery's employees are required to adhere to the core
values (Reliable, Driven and Clear) as laid down in the code of
conduct. In the event of any suspected abuse, employees are
free to report the issue anonymously via the Speak Up
reporting system. Their reports are assessed by an
independent investigator and followed up as required. No
reports were received through the Speak Up system in 2018.

EMPLOYEE PARTICIPATION
The Greenery greatly values the opinions of its employees.
This is reflected in the excellent relationship with the Works
Council. Formal and informal consultation takes place
regularly between the Works Council and Management. The
Works Council represents all sections and layers of the
organisation, covering both our offices and the distribution
centres. The Works Council approaches Management from a
positive yet critical perspective and performs its role in a
pragmatic way.
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Revenue virtually stable, despite difficult market circumstances
Revenue of Logistical Services increased by 8%
Gross contribution increase partially cancelled out by extreme weather contributions
Fixed personnel expenses increased due to collective labour agreement (CAO) increases and higher pension
expenses
Sharp rise in variable personnel expenses due to higher staffing levels in distribution centres
Other operating expenses increased due to lower grant contribution compared with 2017
Lower deprecation due to adjustment of the depreciation period for vehicles
Financial expenses lower due to better liquidity management and no variable interest payments
Net result of EUR 2 million
Capital base of 55.9%

NET REVENUE
The extreme weather conditions during the summer period
had a very negative impact on the 2018 results.

limited to 1% due to the growth in the Netherlands and a price
level which was on average higher than in the previous year.
The main reason for the decline in Exploitation &
Development turnover is the reduction of the CMO grant
scheme.

Despite the extreme weather conditions and increased
competition, revenue in the Netherlands grew by EUR 15
million compared with 2017, mainly as a result of the growth
among focus clients. Increasing competition on the German
market means revenue is lower in Germany, a picture also
seen in the Rest of Europe. Consequently, net revenue has
fallen slightly compared with 2017, although it remained
Net revenue by geographical area
x EUR million

2018

Share

2017

Share

Index relative to
2017

The Netherlands
Germany
United Kingdom
Rest of Europe
Rest of the world

663.6
116.0
40.8
156.8
14.7

67%
12%
4%
16%
1%

648.7
130.6
41.5
165.0
17.4

65%
13%
4%
16%
2%

2%
-11%
-2%
-5%
-16%

Total net revenue

991.9

100%

1,003.2

100%

-1%

Net revenue by category
Total
x EUR million
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2018

2017

Fruit & Vegetable Trade
Logistical Services
Exploitation & Development

913.1
76.0
2.8

927.9
70.5
4.8

-2%
8%
-42%

Total net revenue

991.9

1,003.2

-1%
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9

Net revenue by geographical area

Net revenue by category

in EUR million

in EUR million

991.9
14.7
156.8

1,003.2
17.4

40.8
116.0

41.5
130.6

165.0

663.6

648.7

2018

2017

The Netherlands
Rest of Europe

Germany

United Kingdom

1,003.2
4.8
70.5

913.1

927.9

2018

2017

Fruit & Vegetable Trade

Rest of the world

EBITDA

991.9
2.8
76.0

Logistical Services

Exploitation & Development

EBITDA
Total

The gross contribution increased by EUR 2.9 million due to an
improvement in the gross margin of 0.5 percentage points.
The implementation of various measures brought about this
improvement, one of which was included in the 'Fix the Core'
project that was launched at the end of 2017. However, the
positive effects were largely cancelled out by the negative
impact of the extreme summer weather and increased
competition, in particular in Germany. Those negative
influences meant that the margin improvement was
insufficient to cover the higher costs.
Footer

The salary increases agreed in the collective labour agreement
(CAO) have caused salaries to rise on average by 3% compared
with 2017. The other increase in costs for permanent staff was
caused by higher pension expenses. In addition, volatile
supply, less direct shipment from growers and quality
problems led to additional temporary staff being deployed in
the distribution centres, resulting in higher variable personnel
expenses.

x EUR million

Gross contribution1
Personnel expenses - fixed
Personnel expenses - variable
Other operating expenses
EBITDA

2018

2017

154.8

151.9

71.3
35.7
43.3

67.6
27.4
40.2

4.5

16.7

1 Net
revenue
Footer
80minus cost of sales and subcontracted work.

On balance, this resulted in a decline in the EBITDA compared
with 2017.
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OPERATING PROFIT

NET RESULT
Total

x EUR million

EBITDA

2018

2017

4.5

16.7

Amortisation and depreciation
Reversel of Impairments

14.0
(1.8)

15.6
(0.3)

Operating profit

(7.7)

1.4

Net result is more than EUR 10 million lower in 2018 than in
the previous financial year. The figures for 2017 include a oneoff tax gain of EUR 2.4 million.
The result of the non-consolidated share in Euro Pool Systems
(held indirectly via Houdstermaatschappij Verpakkingen) is
virtually the same as in 2017. The difference compared to
2017 is mainly due to the non-consolidated share in AP Salads
Ltd. which was acquired in March 2018.

INVESTMENTS AND DISPOSALS
The decrease in depreciation (EUR 0.8 million) is in part the
result of the adjustment of the depreciation period for
vehicles, which was brought into line with the actual useful
life. The remainder is attributable to several large investment
projects from the past being fully amortised in 2018.
The book value of PTLA decreased by EUR 1.0 million during
the year as a result of depreciation and exchange losses. A
revaluation took place at year-end based on an improved
harvest forecast and price level that caused the valuation of
PTLA to increase on balance (net) by EUR 0.8 million compared
to 2017.

x EUR million

2018

2017

Operating profit

(7.7)

1.4

Interest income and expenses
Taxes on result
Share of result of participating interests

(3.2)
2.4
10.5

(3.9)
3.7
11.3

2.0

12.5

The interest income and expenses amounted to EUR 3.2
million in 2018. The interest on members' loans accounted for
a considerable part of the interest expenses. In contrast with
2017, no variable interest was paid on members' loans in
2018; this largely explains the decrease of EUR 0.7 million.
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Just as in 2017, due to the postponement of CMO grant
applications, no investments at grower companies were made
in 2018.
There were no particular divestment projects in 2018.

BALANCE SHEET POSITION

INTEREST INCOME AND EXPENSES

Net result

A total of EUR 13.3 million was invested in fixed assets in
2018, EUR 1.5 million of which was for ICT and digitisation
projects. The other investments included replacement
investments for among other things vehicles, lessee-specific
investments for the RDC in Barendrecht and Hoogsteder's DC
in Bleiswijk.

The balance sheet total decreased to EUR 290 million in 2018,
down EUR 14 million on the previous year.
On the assets side, fixed assets increased due to investments,
revaluation and the participation in A Pearson Holdings Ltd.
Current assets declined owing to a decrease in the receivable
from Coforta, the cancelling out of that receivable by a
reduction in the share capital and a substantial drop in liquid
assets owing to vastly improved liquidity management
following completion of the bank account system
rationalisation process.
On the liabilities side, the decrease was reflected in lower
equity (due to a reduction in the share capital and a reduction
in the amount of the receivable from the shareholder), a
smaller pension provision due to a payment of EUR 3 million
into the UK pension fund, and partial use of the deferred taxes
provision. In addition, the mandatory members' loans
continued to decline and postponement of CMO grant
applications resulted in no grower projects being added
although the year did see grower projects being settled.

EQUITY AND FINANCING
Group equity decreased by EUR 4.1 million, primarily as a
result of the decrease of the nominal value of the share capital
by EUR 8.3 million. In addition, the revaluation reserve
increased by EUR 2.6 million as a result of a release of the
provision for deferred tax liabilities and the positive net result
of EUR 2.0 million was recognised in the equity.
During the course of 2018, the company used the three-year
financing agreement contracted with Rabobank, Deutsche
Bank and Rabo Factoring at the end of 2016. At The
Greenery's request, this agreement has been extended until
May 2020, which means that the company will have access to
this financing facility for at least another 12 months when the
2018 financial statements are adopted.
This financing agreement consists of a EUR 40 million
accounts receivable financing facility, a EUR 20 million credit
facility and a EUR 10 million guarantee facility. On a yearly
average, the company made little use of the available Supply
Chain Finance facilities, due to the higher costs compared
with other sources of financing.
Compared to 8 years ago, members' loans decreased, on
average, due to lower sales. Members' loans contracted in
2017 or later are subject to a term of four years and one day
(until 2017: eight years and one day). The effect of this shorter
term will become evident with effect from 2021.

CAPITAL BASE
x EUR million

2018

2017

Equity capital
Product funds
Provisions for deferred tax liabilities
Mandatory members' loans
Pension provision (RJ271)

102.1
4.2
16.3
33.9
5.4

106.2
5.2
21.0
36.9
8.4

Total capital base
Capital base as a percentage of
total assets

161.9

177.7

55.9%

58.5%

The decline of the capital base by EUR 15.8 million is driven in
particular by the decrease of the share capital and the
decrease in mandatory members' loans. Despite this decline,
at 55.9% of the balance sheet total, the capital base remains
at an acceptable level.

CASH FLOW
The cash flow from operating activities amounted to EUR 12.7
million, compared with EUR 10.0 million in 2017. The negative
cash flow is caused by higher levels of investment and lower
disposal levels compared with 2017, and the participation in
APS.
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OUTLOOK FOR 2019
The Greenery will continue to invest in its transformation into digital supply chain
manager, with clients taking centre stage, in 2018. This transformation will be
developed further in 2019 as well.
The roll-out of the new commercial strategy and the
associated organisation is an important aspect of the
activities plan for 2019. The strategy is based on growing the
business by putting the client centre stage. A team, which the
General Management will support in designing and
implementing the plans, has been formed for the
implementation of this transformation. Together with the
establishment of a new commercial organisation, the
structure of other business units will also be brought into line
with the new strategy.
Cooperation with APS will be stepped up and built on,
enabling further growth to be achieved on the UK market.
Although that growth might be disrupted by problems related
to Brexit, Brexit is not expected to have a long-term adverse
impact.
Two important logistical new-build projects will be completed
in 2019. The third (and final) phase of the construction of the
new Retail DC in Barendrecht will be completed at the
beginning of the year. The activities of the DC in Bleiswijk and
the Naturelle DC in Barendrecht will then be integrated in this
Retail DC, thus completing the last phase of the logistical
optimisation that began in 2014. In addition, the new office
and DC for Hoogsteder in Bleiswijk are scheduled for
completion in mid-2019. All of the Hoogsteder Group's units
will be brought together in this new facility, giving it space to
achieve its growth plans.
Th year 2019 will see further work on digitising The Greenery.
That work will include, on the one hand, digitising existing
processes as far as possible and, on the other, working on a
digital mindset and digital revenue models. Optimising and
safeguarding the quality of data is an important theme here.
Alongside initiatives relating to digitisation, greater focus will
also be placed on innovation in 2019.
Our workforce is expected to remain stable in 2019.
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FINANCING
The availability of sufficient funding − in the form of working
capital, for instance − is crucial for the continuity of the
enterprise. The facility concluded at the end of 2016 has
enabled The Greenery to finance its growth plans. At the end
of 2018, the financing agreement was extended until May
2020. The financing requirement will have to be reviewed
again in the course of 2019.
In 2018, the company decided to advise Coforta to relinguish
certification for the EU's Common Market Organisation (CMO)
grant applications effective 1 January 2019. This means that
we will no longer be able to apply for CMO grants in future.
Ongoing projects will, however, be completed in accordance
with the applicable terms and conditions.
In 2019, the company will retain its focus on generating
optimum profitable revenue growth and controlling costs.

RISK MANAGEMENT
Risk management is essential to realising our strategic ambitions. The Greenery B.V.
wishes to manage the risks that jeopardise the realisation of our organisational
objectives comprehensively.
We have opted to use a clear risk management framework to
enable risk management to be implemented effectively and
efficiently. Based on this central vision and approach, all
relevant risk areas are addressed and the risks associated with
the different departments and specialist areas highlighted.

RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK
The General Management of The Greenery B.V. has formulated
a risk management framework which describes the
comprehensive way in which The Greenery controls the risks
to which it is exposed. That risk management framework
serves as the basis for the organisation's risk management
structure. The Greenery's risk management framework is
derived from the best practice COSO ERM model, but its
implementation is tailored to the specific context, needs and
vision of The Greenery.
The General Management are the owners of the risk
management framework and ensure that it is up to date and
communicated to the employees. In consultation with the
management team, the General Management reviews and
updates the risk management framework every year. The
General Management reports on and is responsible for the
design and operation of the risk management framework to

the Supervisory Board after preliminary discussion in the
Audit Committee.

RISK CULTURE
Through the further implementation of the risk management
framework, we are also working on establishing a culture
where employees remain alert to the risks typically associated
with their tasks and responsibilities. Every employee and
responsible person is expected to consider the risks and to try
to manage those risks as adequately as possible in the
performance of their duties. Operational line management
manages this process, which is primarily the responsibility of
The Greenery Group management team. By integrating risk
management into line management activities, the risks and
management measures are increasingly becoming an integral
part of the planning and control process.

RISK TOLERANCE
The Greenery Group's risk tolerance is set out in its mission,
vision, core values and strategic themes. To determine and
respond to risks, it is crucial to be able to identify undesirable
events and obstacles in relation to the company's objectives.
Those risks are identified and managed by mitigating or
insuring against them wherever possible.

Risk tolerance
Risk category

Risk
tolerance

Strategic

Moderate

Operational Low

Financial

Low

Compliance None

Notes

The Greenery Group is prepared to take moderate risks in striving to fulfil its strategic ambitions as
formulated in its business objectives. We always aim to find a healthy balance between the sales
function for members of Coöperatie Coforta and the commercial objectives of our trade activities.
The Greenery Group focuses on preserving the continuity of supplies of fruit and vegetables to its
retail clients. We aim to manage the risks that could jeopardise this continuity wherever possible.
Risk tolerance here is low.
Financial risks, including currency risks, interest rate risks and risks associated with the availability
of financial resources, are an inherent part of enterprise. The Greenery Group aims to maintain its
solid financial position so as to safeguard the continuity of its commercial activities. Since assuming
financial risks is not one of our core activities, the company endeavours to hedge those risks or
insure them where possible.
The Greenery aims to comply with all applicable laws and regulations as well as client requirements
in a variety of fields, including (though not limited to) crop protection agents, food safety, the
environment, competition, corporate social responsibility and sustainable enterprise.
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The company also faces various strategic, operational and
financial risks that are an inherent part of doing business, but
pose a threat to achieving its objectives. Acceptance of a
specific risk level is a necessary condition for The Greenery
Group to achieve its objectives. Risk tolerance differs among
the various risk categories, depending on their contribution to
the company's objectives.

OVERVIEW OF THE PRINCIPAL RISKS
Every year, in consultation with the management team, the
General Management updates its risk assessment. The key
risks are identified and control measures specified. Should one
or more of those risks materialise, this will have an impact on
the main objectives of growth and return. The control
measures mean that timely adjustments can be made.
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Strategic and operational risks

Risks

Control measures

Concentration
Failure to achieve the intended growth and
return because the progressive
concentration on both the supply side and
the demand side has a detrimental effect
on our negotiating position is viewed as
the primary strategic risk and financial risk.
Qualitative and quantitative staff levels
Labour shortages represent a significant
risk in logistical operations because it is
difficult to recruit forklift and reach truck
drivers, warehouse workers and lorry
drivers. As well as causing operational
problems, this can also affect achievement
of our strategy.
Return
High costs and pressure on revenue means
that there is a significant risk that we will
be unable to generate a sufficient rate of
return.

The Greenery Group has an active and long-term policy of entering into
partnerships likely to strengthen its position. These may be joint ventures or longterm partnership agreements with cooperatives, trading companies, suppliers and
growers in this country and abroad. In addition, in close collaboration with
Coforta, The Greenery has developed the outlines of a new commercial strategy.
The policy principles are being converted into specific actions for the departments
involved. A steering group is monitoring consistency and progress.
The policy, part of which involves cutting the temporary workforce and increasing
the number of permanent employees, is geared first and foremost towards
retaining our current employees. We are also exploring options providing
alternative ways of recruiting staff and providing them with internal training.
Since The Greenery Group's logistical organisation experiences seasonal peaks, we
are also exploring the possibility of sharing employees with organisations
operating in sectors with an opposite seasonal pattern.

We will focus more closely on the gross contribution by making choices and
discontinuing or shedding loss-making commercial activities that are out of line
with the strategy. Closer cooperation between the various subsidiaries remains a
priority. The results of the Fix the Core projects, which were aimed at reducing
costs and also improving the margin, are being implemented. We will also make
further efforts towards improving efficiency by standardising all of the processes
and applying the 'continuous improvement' approach.
Product availability
Growth in the volume of supply (quantity) can be achieved by actively seeking
This involves the risk that it will prove
opportunities to enter into long-term partnerships with cooperatives, suppliers
impossible to achieve growth in turnover
and growers in this country and abroad. The quality of suppliers and the produce
because insufficient produce (in terms of
sourced can be improved by carrying out supplier selection procedures for both
quantity and quality) is available to meet
existing and new upstream suppliers. Supplier satisfaction is measured and
clients' requirements.
monitored.
Brexit
All developments are being monitored closely by the Customs Affairs department.
The risk posed by Brexit, should it take
The Greenery Group has wide experience with regard to exporting to countries
place, is that sales to the UK will stagnate
outside the EU and will therefore be able to respond rapidly to those
or be achievable only at higher costs.
developments. By acquiring a stake in APS (a production and trading company),
which is established in the UK, the company has a position on the UK market.
Compliance
Within the organisation, specialists are responsible for monitoring developments
Violation of laws and standards in the area in laws and regulations in their own regions. With the support of the Legal
of crop protection agents, food safety,
department, the key laws and regulations are then transposed into internal rules,
ethical business practices, competition and procedures and operating methods.
privacy forms a key risk for the company.
In addition to the support it provides, the Risk, Legal & Compliance department
also has a role as specialist in the area of overarching legislation. For instance, in
2018 internal procedures were put in place in order to implement the new GDPR
legislation within The Greenery Group.
The specialists are responsible for communicating the new rules and increasing
and maintaining employees' knowledge. Departures from agreements are
reported through the hierarchical structure and/or the Speak Up system.
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Financial risks

Risks

Control measures

Price risk
The company runs a price risk on its
economic inventory. In addition, the
company trades in perishable
products whose value decreases over
time.
Interest rate risk
The variation in interest rates has an
impact on the (direct) result.

The Greenery Group has a well-designed ERP system for the effective management of
all goods flows by a team of Supply Chain staff members. They monitor stock positions
so as to ensure the most efficient and effective dispatch of goods from growers to
clients. This provides maximum safeguards to secure the economic value of
inventories.

The Greenery's interest rate policy is aimed at limiting the risk of interest costs rising as
a result of rising market interest rates. The current financing arrangement assumes a
floor of 0% as the reference interest rate. As long as the market interest rate remains
negative, the company does not hedge any risks but as soon as it turns positive it will
use an interest rate derivative to hedge the risk.
Currency risk
Currency risks associated with purchasing and sales activities in foreign currencies are
The company is exposed to the risk of hedged using forward exchange transactions. The currency risk associated with longterm commercial contracts is hedged at the moment the contract is signed, where
currency fluctuations as regards its
possible. In practice, currency risks are not always fully hedged due to changes in
foreign activities (both purchasing
delivery dates and volumes relative to the scheduled arrangements.
and sales).
Liquidity risk
The company aims to limit the liquidity risk by guaranteeing adequate availability of an
There is a risk that the company does accounts receivable financing facility and a revolving credit facility with the banking
consortium of Deutsche Bank and Rabobank. This is conditional, however, upon
not have access to the required
compliance with the financial obligations laid down in the documentation
liquidity when needed.
accompanying the financing arrangement, which was able to meet all financing needs
in 2018. The Treasury department periodically determines the availability of sufficient
liquid assets in the medium and long term.
Credit risk
Where possible, the trade receivables are placed with a credit insurer. For uninsurable
The company runs a credit risk when a trade receivables, we apply internal limits which are strictly monitored. The Greenery
counterparty fails to meet its
also provides harvest advances on a limited scale and in exceptional cases, which are
obligations with regard to a financial paid back through the delivery of products. The concentration risk is limited as we work
instrument or a contract with a buyer, with many different buyers. Since The Greenery uses supply chain finance programmes
causing financial loss. The company is for its major buyers, the concentration risk as a result of significant customer
also exposed to credit risk in
receivables is less prevalent in this segment.
connection with its business activities
(primarily trade receivables) and in
On the reporting date, the maximum exposure to credit risk amounts to the book value
connection with its financing
of the receivables and cash and cash equivalents, as indicated in the respective notes.
activities, including currency
The Greenery Group considers that the credit risk is low because a significant part of its
transactions and other financial
trade receivables are insured. The credit balances held at banks are all credit balances
instruments.
at reputable banks. Receivables as a result of harvest advances involve a higher risk, as
these are dependent on weather and market conditions.
Pension expenses
In the current pension plan, the employer is no longer liable for indexation costs and/or
The company is liable for the
any underfunding. For Dutch schemes which have been agreed to where the employer
indexation costs of and/or
is liable for indexation costs, an agreement has been made with the Works Council that
underfunding of pension plans which the amount of the contribution is related to the company's net profit. The
increase on account of a low interest developments in the UK pension fund are monitored with an external pensions expert
rate and higher life expectancy.
and a restructuring plan.
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RISKS THAT OCCURRED IN 2018
The key risks that occurred in 2018 are as follows:
1. The company was confronted with the negative
consequences of the long, hot and dry summer in 2018.
The impact on production and pricing varies considerably
from one product group to another, but the
consequences of the drought are evident for all growers.
For The Greenery Group, the consequences translated
into lower volumes, poorer quality and sharp fluctuations
in supply and demand. Unfortunately, this had a
substantial impact on business operations and,
consequently, on the company's financial results in the
reporting year.
2. Qualitative and quantitative staff levels improved
economic conditions have increased the pressure on the
labour market. As a result, just like last year, The Greenery
has had to make a greater effort to maintain the desired
qualitative and quantitative staff levels. Additional costs
were incurred mainly for the recruitment and training of
staff for specific logistics positions, such as forklift and
reach truck drivers, warehouse workers and lorry drivers.
3. Currency risk: due to fluctuations in volume and price in
sales contracts it is not always possible to make a reliable
estimate of currency risks in advance, and hedge them
accordingly. As a result, currency risk hedges on some
contracts may be incomplete, both in the sense of under
and over-hedging.
4. The underfunding of the UK pension fund increased in
2018 owing to a change in circumstances, prompting the
pension regulator to request additional measures. This
resulted in a payment of EUR 3 million being made into
the UK fund to reduce the level of underfunding.

IMPROVEMENTS IN THE RISK MANAGEMENT
SYSTEM
In mid-2018, the company set up a new Risk, Legal &
Compliance department. This is a statement of our ambition
to take an even more professional approach to risk
management within The Greenery Group.

Barendrecht, 3 April 2019
The Greenery B.V. General Management
Steven Martina
CEO

Philip Limvers
CFO

2018 Annual Report of The Greenery B.V.

41

42

2018 Annual Report of The Greenery B.V.

GOVERNANCE

2018 Annual Report of The Greenery B.V.

43

Corporate Governance
BASIC PRINCIPLES
The governance structure within Coforta/The Greenery is of
the 'hourglass' model, in which the Management Board of the
Cooperative and the General Meeting of Members constitute
the most senior body within the Cooperative, and with the
General Management and a Supervisory Board for the
company. A two-tier board structure is in place. The
Greenery’s Articles of Association incorporate a derogation
from law regarding the Supervisory Board appointments
procedure for two-tier board companies in that the
Supervisory Board is appointed by co-option. A covenant has
been concluded with the Works Council containing
agreements on the composition of the Supervisory Board, the
recommendation rights of the Works Council and the
appointment of members of the Supervisory Board.
The company's two-tier structure includes a statutory General
Management and a Supervisory Board. At year-end 2018, the
General Management comprised two members.
At year-end 2018, the Supervisory Board comprised six
members. These are the four members of the Cooperative’s
Management Board and two 'external' members.

SHAREHOLDING STRUCTURE
All shares in the capital of The Greenery B.V. are held by
Coöperatie Coforta U.A. The management and supervisory
structure of the two legal entities is represented in the figure
on the next page.

MANAGEMENT BOARD OF THE
COOPERATIVE
The General Meeting of Members appoints the Cooperative’s
Management Board, which had four members at the close of
2017, all of whom were members of the Cooperative. The
composition of the Management Board reflects the best
possible mix of representatives from the Cooperative’s
membership based on product groups. The Management
Board is responsible for serving the interests of the
Cooperative’s members and the business conducted by the
Cooperative through The Greenery and its subsidiaries.
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THE GREENERY B.V.
GENERAL MANAGEMENT
Under the Articles of Association, the General Management,
which at the end of 2018 comprised two directors, is
responsible for managing The Greenery. This includes
formulating strategy and policy as well as defining and
achieving The Greenery’s objectives. The General
Management is accountable to the Supervisory Board and to
the General Meeting.
Under the Articles of Association, the directors are appointed
by the Supervisory Board for a four-year term. The Supervisory
Board determines the remuneration and other terms of
employment for the General Management members in
accordance with the remuneration policy approved by the
General Meeting.

REMUNERATION POLICY FOR THE GENERAL
MANAGEMENT
The purpose of the remuneration policy is to attract, motivate
and retain experienced and qualified directors for the General
Management. The remuneration structure for the General
Management aims to ensure an optimal balance between the
short-term results of the company and its long-term
objectives.
The total remuneration for statutory General Management
members is comprised of the following components:
• a fixed basic salary;
• variable remuneration for performance in the short term
(one year);
• variable remuneration for performance in the long term
(three years);
• a pension plan;
• a travel expenses allowance.

Basic salary
Once a year, on the Selection Committee's recommendation,
the Supervisory Board determines whether and, if so, the
extent to which the basic salary is to be adapted, with due
regard for, among other things, market developments and the
company's results.

Legal structure

Full ownership

Coöperatie Coforta U.A.

Members

The Greenery B.V.

Members' meeting

General Meeting

Management Board

Supervisory Board

General Management

Variable remuneration for the short
term
Statutory General Management members qualify for an
annual bonus depending on the extent to which they achieve
pre-determined targets concerning the operating result,
revenue, strategy etc. These targets are set by the Supervisory
Board at the beginning of the reporting year. This largely
performance-related annual bonus can add a maximum of
30% to the basic salary of the member concerned.

Variable remuneration for the long term
The remuneration for statutory General Management
members' long-term performance is geared to the
achievement of the targets set out in the Strategic Plan and
value creation over a period of three years. The long-term
bonus can increase the basic salary by a maximum of 30%.

Pension plan
The General Management takes part in a pension plan
approximately half of the costs of which are borne by the
employer.

Travel expenses allowance

Gender split
The Greenery strives for a balanced gender split within the
General Management. However, currently there is a gender
imbalance. Should a general management vacancy occur in
the future, we will explicitly and actively search for female
candidates.

Footer

SUPERVISORY BOARD OF
THE GREENERY B.V.
The Supervisory Board supervises the policy pursued by the
General Management as well as general developments within
The Greenery and its associated businesses. In performing its
tasks, the Supervisory Board aims to promote the interests of
the company and its stakeholders.
The Greenery is subject to a statutory two-tier regime, which
means that the Supervisory Board has been accorded the
powers specified in Book 2, Title 5, Part 6 of the Dutch Civil
Code, including the appointment of General Management and
the approval of General Management resolutions defined by
law.
Furthermore, certain General Management resolutions
defined in the Articles of Association require prior Supervisory
Board approval.

The General Management members are entitled to a fixed
allowance to compensate for the travel expenses they incur.
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Composition and appointment
At year-end 2018, the Supervisory Board comprised six
members, including the four members of the Cooperative’s
Management Board and two Supervisory Board members who
are not members of the Cooperative. The chair of the
Supervisory Board is Mr B.J. Feijtel. Mr G.W. Pronk is its vicechair.

Supervisory Board committees
The Supervisory Board has established an Audit Committee
and a Selection Committee from among its members.

Audit Committee
At year-end 2018, the members of the Audit Committee were
Mr E.D. Drok (chair), Mr G.W. Pronk and Mr T. van Noord. The
Audit Committee is responsible for advising and helping the
Supervisory Board prepare decisions on financial matters.

Selection Committee
At year-end 2018, the members of the Selection Committee
were Ms A.E. Ter Laak (chair), Mr B.J Feijtel and Ms N. Peeters.
The Selection Committee is responsible for advising and
helping the Supervisory Board prepare decisions concerning
the selection, appointment and reappointment of directors
and Supervisory Board members.

GENERAL MEETING OF
THE GREENERY B.V.
In the company’s General Meeting, matters handled include
the adoption of The Greenery’s financial statements and
granting The Greenery’s General Management discharge from
liability in respect of the performance of its duties.
Furthermore, General Meeting approval is required for certain
resolutions adopted by The Greenery’s General Management
as described in the Articles of Association, such as the
adoption of the strategic business plan and budget.

SHARE CAPITAL
All the shares in the capital of The Greenery are held by the
Cooperative, which means that the Cooperative has complete
control at the General Meeting of Shareholders. During a
General Meeting of Shareholders, the Management Board of
the Cooperative exercises the voting rights attached to the
shares on behalf of the Cooperative.
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Report of the
Supervisory Board
SUPERVISION AND ADVICE

Supervisory Board activities
The Supervisory Board met ten times during the reporting
year, of which once in the form of a conference call. Meetings
were held both in the presence and in the absence of the
General Management. Important subjects of discussion during
the meetings included participation in APS, the progress of
strategic projects, the investment fund, the commercial
strategy, pensions and risk management. Furthermore,
various new building projects were discussed as well as
financial and commercial developments.
In 2018, the Board also assessed its performance and
cooperation with the General Management during a teambuilding session facilitated by an independent party.

The Audit Committee's activities
The Audit Committee met five times in 2018 to prepare for
resolutions by the Supervisory Board on, among other things,
participation in APS, the 2017 Annual Report and financial
statements and the 2018 budget. The audit for 2018 was
prepared and, among other things, the internal audit plan, the
external auditor's management letter and risk management
were discussed. In addition, the internal auditor submitted the
2019 Audit Plan and the results (and follow-up) of the internal
audits performed in 2018 were discussed.

The Selection Committee's activities
The Selection Committee met four times during the reporting
year. The Selection Committee prepared for resolutions within
the Board in respect of the bonus criteria for the General
Management, as well as the bonuses payable to and
remuneration of the General Management. The Selection
Committee also discussed the 'soft controls' audit with the
external auditor. The Selection Committee also prepared for
the Board's and the General Management's team-building
session. CFO, mr. Limvers, informed the Selection Committee
that he will not renew his employment contract ending mid
2019. In the light of his imminent departure, the Selection
Committee discussed the CFO's profile and began the
recruitment and selection process. The Committee also
obtained information concerning The Greenery's position
within the current labour market.

CHANGES IN THE COMPOSITION OF THE
COMMITTEES
On 15 February 2018, Mr Pronk stepped down as member of
the Selection Committee and Ms Peeters joined it.
For further details of the composition of the Supervisory
Board and its committees, please see the biographies on page
50.

ANNUAL REPORT
The Supervisory Board has read The Greenery’s 2018 Annual
Report prepared by the General Management, including the
financial statements consisting of the balance sheet as at
31 December 2018, the income statement for the financial
year then ended and the relevant notes. The financial
statements were initially discussed by the Supervisory Board’s
Audit Committee and subsequently by the full Supervisory
Board along with the General Management and the auditor,
KPMG Accountants N.V. With due observance of the report on
the financial statements drawn up by KPMG Accountants N.V.
and the unqualified audit opinion issued, by way of approval
the Supervisory Board members signed the financial
statements. The Supervisory Board also approved the profit
appropriation proposal presented by General Management.
The financial statements were submitted to the General
Meeting of Shareholders for consideration and adoption. The
Supervisory Board proposes that the General Meeting adopt
the financial statements, agree to the intended profit
appropriation and grant the General Management discharge
from liability for the policy conducted over the past financial
year as well as the Supervisory Board for the supervision it has
carried out in this regard.

WORD OF THANKS
The Supervisory Board would like to thank General
Management, Management and all The Greenery’s employees
for their dedication and efforts throughout the review year.
Barendrecht, 3 April 2019
The Greenery B.V. Supervisory Board
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Composition of governing
bodies

Allium schoenoprasum (Chives)
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THE GREENERY B.V. GENERAL MANAGEMENT

Steven (S.A.) Martina (b. 1976)

Philip (P.R.) Limvers (b. 1964)

Position: Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
Appointed on: 23 February 2016
Background: Economist and lawyer with extensive
experience in a range of commercial roles within The
Greenery.
Responsibilities: Sales, Sourcing, Supply Chain
Management & Logistics, Human Resources, Marketing &
Communication, Cooperative Affairs, Quality &
Environment, Programme Management, Strategy,
Business Development, Sustainability, Innovation
Relevant ancillary positions: Non-executive Board Member
of Federatie Nederlandse Levensmiddelen Industrie (FNLI),
Member of the Jury for the Agnites Vrolik Award, Utrecht
University, non-executive Board Member of Federatie
Vruchtgroenten Organisaties (FVO) and non-executive
Board Member of APS Produce

Position: Chief Financial Officer (CFO)
Appointed on: 9 February 2015
Background: Business economist with over 25 years'
experience in managerial positions at companies in the
Netherlands and abroad, including Randstad, Praxis, ICTS
Europe and G4S.
Responsibilities: Management Control and Accounting,
Financing and Cash Management, Internal and External
Reporting, Planning & Control, ICT & Information
Management, Digitisation & Big Data, Risk, Legal &
Compliance, Tax Affairs, Internal Audit, Real Estate &
Internal Support Services
Relevant ancillary positions: Board member of
Houdstermaatschappij Verpakkingsbedrijven B.V., nonexecutive member of A Pearson Holdings
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THE GREENERY B.V. SUPERVISORY BOARD

Bas (B.J.) Feijtel (b. 1967)

Gerard (G.W.) Pronk (b. 1960)

Theo (T.W.) van Noord (b. 1972)

Position: Chair of the The Greenery B.V.

Position: Vice-chair of the Supervisory
Board and member of the Audit and
Selection Committees of The Greenery
B.V., and chair of the Management Board
of Coöperatie Coforta U.A.
Appointed to the Supervisory Board on:
16 December 2014
Appointed vice-chair on: 1 April 2015
Profession: Fruit grower, 34 ha of pears
Background: Mr Pronk has vast experience
in administrative positions. He chaired the
Product Advisory Committee (PAC), served
as the local and principal director of the
Dutch Fruit Growers' Organisation and as
an administrator within the North Sea
Pears alliance. Mr Pronk grows, stores,
sorts and processes pears at his own
company and for 20 other growers in the
same region. In addition, his company acts
as an SSL location.
Ancillary positions: Board member of
Dutch Produce Association, Board
member of Vereniging GroentenFruit Huis.

Position: Member of the Supervisory
Board and the Audit Committee of The

Supervisory Board and member of the
Management Board of Coöperatie Coforta
U.A.
Appointed to: the Supervisory Board on:
11 February 2009
Appointed as chair on: 17 December 2015
Profession: Fruit grower, 33 ha of pears
Background: Mr Feijtel has been active in
provincial politics and at ZLTO. He has
performed supervisory roles at various
organisations, including Rabobank, and
currently at a housing association. Bas
Feijtel is an agricultural economist and
owns a modern fruit growing business
that specialises in the cultivation and cold
storage of pears.
Ancillary positions: Member of the
Supervisory Board of Inova Fruit B.V.
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Greenery B.V., and vice-chair of the
Management Board of Coöperatie Coforta
U.A.
Appointed to the Supervisory Board on:
28 March 2012
Profession: Tomato grower, 22 ha of
greenhouses, partly with artificial lighting.
Also owns a packing station.
Background: Mr Van Noord has vast
administrative experience. He served as a
Board member of Trospartners growers'
association. In addition to running his
tomato growing business, Mr Van Noord
runs a business called Noordhuys Packing,
which provides retail packing services for
all its own tomatoes and those grown by
third parties. Noordhuys Packing also
serves as an SSL location that collaborates
closely with The Greenery.
Ancillary positions: Member of working
group the Coalition Restructuring and
Development of the horticultural sector.

Eric (E.D.) Drok (b. 1960)

Nancy (N.) Peeters (b. 1975)

Anouk (A.E.) Ter Laak (b. 1966)

Position: Member of the Supervisory
Board and chair of the Audit Committee of

Position: Member of the Supervisory
Board of The Greenery B.V., member of its

Position: Member of the Supervisory
Board and chair of the Selection

The Greenery B.V.
Appointed to the Supervisory Board on:
4 November 2015
Profession: Supervisory Board member,
non-executive director and corporate
advisor in the financial and retail sectors.
Background: Business economist and
corporate lawyer with over 25 years'
experience in executive positions in the
Dutch and international financial sectors.
Ancillary positions: Member of the
Supervisory Board of Euro Pool Systems
International B.V., Chair of the Supervisory
Board of Flow Traders N.V., Operating
Partner of Hg-Capital in London, nonexecutive board member of Bison Bank in
Portugal, member of the Supervisory
Board of Lievense Holding B.V., member of
the Supervisory Board of Stichting Max
Havelaar (Fairtrade Netherlands).

Selection Committee and member of the
Management Board of Coöperatie Coforta
U.A.
Appointed to the Supervisory Board on:
18 February 2017
Profession: Soft fruit grower, 2 ha of
strawberries and 3.5 ha of land for tray
plants
Background: Ms Peeters gained
experience as a member of the Rabobank
Tilburg Members' Council and in various
roles in associations. She and her husband
have been running De Goeije Kroon, a
strawberry nursery, since 2005, where
they cultivate strawberries in greenhouses
and as tray plants.
Ancillary positions: Member of the Council
of members of Rabobank in Tilburg and its
surroundings.

Committee of The Greenery B.V.
Appointed to the Supervisory Board on:
28 July 2016
Profession: CEO of SVZ International, and
member of the Group Executive Board of
Royal Cosun, an agro-industrial group
with a cooperative basis.
Background: Over 25 years' experience in
various strategic and management roles
in the Netherlands and abroad in both the
retail and food service sectors with FMCG
companies.
Ancillary positions: Member of the
Supervisory Board of Broadview Holding
(part of Hal Investments).
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018
(before profit appropriation)
in thousands of euros

Note

2018

2017

Assets
Fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets
Financial fixed assets1

13
14
15

15,724
129,160
65,416
210,300

13,551
125,912
55,390
194,853

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

16
17
18

11,734
62,144
5,579
79,457

11,244
79,037
18,574
108,855

289,757

303,708

102,306
(182)
102,124

106,336
(174)
106,162

25,043
50,324
112,266
187,633

34,346
58,801
104,399
197,546

289,757

303,708

Total assets
Liabilities
Group equity
Shareholders' equity
Minority interest
Provisions and liablitiies
Provisions1
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities and accruals

Total liabilities

19

20
21
22

1 Comparative figures have been restated for comparison purposes only; these are explained under note 5.
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 2018
in thousands of euros

Net revenue
Cost of sales
Cost of outsourced work and other external costs
Wages and salaries
Social security charges
Pension costs
Amortisation and depreciation on (in)tangible fixed assets
Impairment/reversal of impairment of (in)tangible fixed assets
Other operating expenses
Total operating expenses

Note

25

26
27
28

Operating profit
Interest income and similar income
Interest expenses and similar expenses

29
29

Result before tax
Tax on result
Share of result of participating interests
Result after tax
Minority interests
Net result
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30
15

2018

2017

991,866

1,003,152

790,534
46,531
51,725
8,532
8,543
13,964
(1,842)
81,555
999,542

808,479
42,772
50,463
8,009
6,712
15,566
(320)
70,109
1,001,790

(7,676)

1,362

254
(3,460)

344
(4,275)

(10,882)

(2,569)

2,411
10,452
1,981

3,663
11,325
12,419

-

64

1,981

12,483

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 2018
in thousands of euros

Note

Net result
Translation differences on foreign operations
Other movements
Total of items recognised directly in shareholders'equity
Total result of the legal entity

19
19

2018

2017

1,981

12,483

(134)
2,466
2,332

(1,267)
(57)
(1,324)

4,313

11,159

All movements in the legal entity's equity have been recognised in the group equity.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT 2018
According to the indirect method
in thousands of euros
Operating activities
Operating result
Depreciation/amortisation
Impairment on (in)tangible fixed assets
Release of property, plant and equipment related EU grants
Results on sale of group companies
Book results on sales of fixed assets
Changes in provisions1
Movement in stocks
Movement in trade receivables
Movement in other receivables
Movement in trade creditors
Movement in other liabilities
Operational cash flow
Interest (paid)/received
Corporate income tax (paid)/received
Dividend received
Cash flow from operating activities
Investing activities
Investments in intangible fixed assets
Investments in tangible fixed assets
Disposal of tangible fixed assets
Acquisition of group companies
Repayment of borrowings
Loans granted
Cash flow from investing activities

Note

26
27

20
16
17
17
22
22

2018

(7,676)
13,964
(1,842)
(1,821)
7
(51)
(4,144)
(537)
9,955
(51)
2,166
364

15

(1,770)
(11,610)
1,092
(5,740)
499
(3,147)

Cash flow from operating and investing activities
Financing activities
Increase in bank loans and other loans
Repayment of borrowings
Increase of borrowings from members
Repayment of borrowings from members
Additions product funds
Withdrawals product funds
Cash flow from financing activities

21
21
21
21
21
21

3,420
(1,733)
3,992
4,322
10,001

(1,152)
(7,122)
8,226
(7)
400
(121)
(20,676)

224

(7,977)

10,225

2,940
(1,724)
3,329
(8,617)
1,152
(2,143)

1,006
(2,716)
3,598
(8,849)
1,282
(1,609)
(5,063)

(7,288)

Net cash flow
Exchange and translation differences in cash and cash equivalents
Changes in cash and cash equivalents

(13,040)
45
(12,995)

2,937
(142)
2,795

Cash and cash equivalents
Balance as at 1 January
Movements
Balance as at 31 December

18,574
(12,995)
5,579

1 Comparative figures have been restated for comparison purposes only; these are explained under note 5.
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1,362
15,566
(320)
(2,086)
3
1,824
(4,604)
1,102
1,640
13,719
(16,602)
(8,184)
10,334
(1,847)
(503)
4,715
12,699

29
30
15

13
14
14
15

2017
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15,779
2,795
18,574

General notes
The Greenery B.V. ('the company') was incorporated on 31 May 1996, has its
registered office in The Hague and is listed in the Trade Register of the Chamber of
Commerce in Rotterdam under number 16086757. Coöperatie Coforta U.A. ('the
Cooperative'), having its registered office in The Hague, holds 100% of the shares in
the company. The actual address of both the company and the Cooperative is
Spoorwegemplacement 1 in Barendrecht.
The financial data of the company are included in the consolidated financial statements of Coöperatie Coforta U.A, which are
available at Coöperatie Coforta's office.
These financial statements relate to the financial year ended 31 December 2018. The amounts included in the notes are in
thousands of euros, unless stated otherwise.

1 Principal activities
The Greenery is a leading, international company engaged in
obtaining a full range of fruit, vegetables and mushrooms
from around the world and supplying these fresh to its clients
every day, all year round. Its clients are mainly wholesalers and
supermarket chains in Europe. The company also supplies the
catering industry and food industry. The Greenery has
subsidiaries and associates in nine countries and its policy and
approach focus on market orientation, food safety,
sustainability, innovation and logistical efficiency.

2 Continuity
These financial statements have been prepared on a goingconcern basis.

Developments in 2018
2018 saw the launch of the 'Fix the Core' project whose
purpose is to improve profitability. It has resulted in several
specific process developments that will improve margins
and/or reduce costs. In addition, further progress was made in
2018 with the implementation of the 'Growing Together 2022'
strategic plan. Setting out a new commercial strategy and the
associated commercial organisation was a key element.
Further work on professionalising the Sourcing department,
expanding the robotisation and digitisation of logistical and
administrative processes and making The Greenery more agile
was also carried out in 2018. All this is intended to improve
our commercial clout and financial performance.
Further investment was made in 2018 in upgrading the
logistical infrastructure, which will ensure that both The
Greenery and the Hoogsteder Group will have a modern and
efficient distribution centre in 2019.

During the reporting year, the financial agreement concluded
with Deutsche Bank and Rabobank was extended until May
2020.

Outlook for 2019 and beyond
In 2019, the company will continue the roll-out of the
strategic plan, with the transition to the new commercial
strategy and organisation being the key focus. Expectations
are that this strategy, where the client is put centre stage, will
lead to further growth for focus countries and focus clients.
Guided by Management, a transition team for which a number
of employees has been made available, will be responsible for
implementing the transition. The one-off costs this transition
will entail have been taken account of in the 2019 budget.
The project launched in 2015 for a new logistics infrastructure
is scheduled for completion in early 2019. Following
completion of the final phase of the construction of the new
distribution centre in Barendrecht, it will be possible to
integrate the activities currently still taking place in Bleiswijk,
as wel as Naturelle's activities at a single site. This will result in
substantial logistical efficiencies and therefore lower costs.
The one-off costs of the centralisation of these activities have
been taken account of in the 2019 budget. The robotisation
and digitisation of existing logistical, commercial and
administrative processes will continue in 2019, with as much
use as possible being made of artificial intelligence.
CMO certification ceased effective 2019. Since this was
preceded by two years where CMO grant applications were
postponed, there has been no change in the financial impact
relative to the two preceding years.
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Management has prepared a liquidity forecast to assess
whether the company will be able to meet its commitments in
and after 2019. To that end, it has prepared assumptions
regarding volume and price developments, operating
expenses, working capital and potential risks. Based on the
outlook, Management believes that the covenants of the loan
agreement will be fulfilled in 2019. Furthermore, based on the
liquidity forecast, Management expects to have sufficient
financial resources to continue to meet its obligations. Hence,
it has applied the 'going-concern assumption' in preparing the
financial statements.

3 Investments and disposals
The Greenery acquired 18% of the shares and voting rights in
A Pearson Holdings Limited for a purchase price of EUR 5.7
million on 28 March 2018.
One non-active company was dissolved in the course of the
year.

4 Basis of consolidation
Consolidation method
The items in the consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with the group's uniform accounting
policies. The mutual shareholdings, liabilities, receivables and
transactions have been eliminated from the consolidated
financial statements. The results on mutual transactions
between group companies have also been eliminated. In a
transaction in which the selling group company is not wholly
owned by the equity holder, elimination from the group net
income is allocated pro rata to the minority interest based on
the share of the minority interest in the selling company. The
group companies are fully consolidated, with non-controlling
interests disclosed separately in group equity. If the losses
attributable to the minority interest exceed the noncontrolling interest in shareholders' equity of the consolidated
company, the difference as well as any further losses are
charged in full to the majority shareholder, unless and to the
extent that the majority shareholding has an obligation and is
in a position to absorb the losses. Minority shares are
deducted from group net income and stated separately as the
final item in the consolidated income statement.

Consolidation base
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the company and its group subsidiaries, other
group companies and other legal entities over which
dominant control is exercised or over which central leadership
exists.
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Subsidiaries are participating interests in which the company
(and/or one or more of its subsidiaries) can exercise more than
half of the voting rights at the General Meeting, or can
appoint or dismiss more than half of the General Management
members or Supervisory Board members.
Group companies are participating interests in which the
company has a majority interest, or over which it can exercise
controlling influence in another manner. To determine
whether controlling influence exists, financial instruments
containing potential voting rights that can be exercised such
that the company will have more or less influence are taken
into account.
Newly acquired associates are included in the consolidation
from the time at which controlling influence can be exercised.
Divested associates are included in the consolidation until the
time at which such influence has ended.
For a list of the consolidated group companies, please refer to
the List of subsidiaries and associates (see page 95).

5 Basis of preparation of the financial
statements
The consolidated financial statements of the company form
part of the financial statements drawn up pursuant to the
company's Articles of Association and have been prepared in
accordance with the statutory provisions of Part 9 of Book 2 of
the Dutch Civil Code.
The company's financial data are included in the consolidated
financial statements and, in accordance with Section 402 of
Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code, the company income
statement has therefore been drawn up in an abridged form. It
only states the share in the results of associates after tax and
other income after tax.
The figures for 2017 have been reclassified to enable
comparison with the 2018 figures. The reclassified figures are
as follows:
• As from 2018, deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities are no longer stated on a net basis, but shown
separately in the balance sheet. The effect on the
consolidated comparative figures for 2017 is a
reclassification of EUR 3.3 million. The effect on the
company comparative figures for 2017 is a reclassification
of EUR 2.3 million.

An asset is recognised in the balance sheet when it is probable
that the future economic benefits will flow to the entity and
the asset has a cost or value that can be measured reliably.
Assets that do not meet this accounting definition are not
recognised in the balance sheet but are classified as offbalance sheet assets.
A liability is recognised in the balance sheet when it is
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits will result from the settlement of a present obligation
and the amount at which the settlement will take place can be
measured reliably. Liabilities are also understood to include
provisions. Liabilities that do not meet this accounting
definition are not recognised in the balance sheet but are
recognised as off-balance sheet liabilities.
An asset or liability included in the balance sheet remains on
the balance sheet if a transaction does not lead to a material
change in the economic reality of the asset or the liability. Nor
do such transactions lead to the recognition of results. The
assessment of whether there is a material change in the
economic reality is based on the economic benefits and risks
that are likely to occur in practice, and not on the benefits and
risks that are not reasonably expected to occur.
An asset or liability is derecognised if a transaction leads to all
or almost all rights to the economic benefits and all or almost
all risks relating to the asset or the liability being transferred
to a third party. The results of the transaction are in that case
taken directly to the income statement, with due regard for
any provisions that should be formed in connection with the
transaction.
If the representation of the economic reality leads to the
inclusion of assets of which the legal entity is not the legal
owner, this fact is stated.
Income is recognised in the income statement when an
increase in the economic potential, related to an increase in an
asset or a decrease in a liability has taken place, the amount of
which can be measured reliably. Expenditure is recognised
when a decrease in the economic potential, related to a
decrease in an asset or an increase in a liability has taken
place, the amount of which can be measured reliably.
Income and expenses are allocated to the accounting period
to which they relate. Income is recognised if all principal risks
relating to goods for sale are transferred to the buyer.

Use of estimates
In line with generally accepted accounting principles, the
preparation of the financial statements requires that
Management forms opinions and makes estimates and
assumptions that have an impact on the amounts stated in
the financial statements. The actual figures may differ from
these estimates. The estimates and the underlying
assumptions are regularly reviewed. Revisions of estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate was revised if
the revision only has consequences for that period, and in
future periods if the revision also has consequences for future
periods.

Presentation and functional currency
The financial statements are presented in euros, the
functional currency of the company.

Impairment of assets
A regular review is carried out (at least at each balance sheet
date) to determine whether there are any indications that the
book value of the qualifying assets is subject to impairment
losses. If there are any such indications, an estimate is made of
the realisable value of the asset. The realisable value is the
higher of the value in use and the net realisable value. If it is
not possible to estimate the realisable value of an individual
asset, the realisable value is measured of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.
If the book value is higher than the net realisable value, an
impairment loss is taken to the result. If a cash-generating
unit has an impairment loss, the loss is initially allocated to
the goodwill that is allocated to the cash-generating unit. Any
residual loss is allocated to the unit's other assets in
proportion to their book values.
Furthermore, a review is carried out at every balance sheet
date to determine whether there is any indication that an
impairment loss recognised in prior years has decreased. If
there is any such indication, the realisable value of the
particular asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated.
An impairment loss recognised earlier is reversed only if the
estimates used to determine the realisable value have
changed since the recognition of the latest impairment loss. In
that case the book value of the asset (or cash-generating unit)
is increased to the estimated realisable value, but no higher
than the book value that would have been determined (after
depreciation) if in prior years no impairment for the asset (or
cash-generating unit) had been recognised.
A goodwill impairment loss is not reversed in a subsequent
period.
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6 Changes in accounting estimates
Until 1 January 2018, semi-trailers were depreciated in five
years. New insights have led to the application of a
depreciation period of nine years. The impact of that change
on the 2018 financial year has been recognised in the income
statement; the impact on future periods will be recognised in
the same way. The positive impact of these changes in
accounting estimates on the result for the 2018 financial year
amounts to approximately EUR 0.4 million.

8 Accounting policies for foreign currency
translation
Receivables, liabilities and commitments in foreign currencies
are translated at the exchange rates prevailing at the balance
sheet date. The exchange differences resulting from
translation at the balance sheet date are taken to the balance
sheet and income statement in the period in which they occur.
This excludes exchange differences on monetary items that
are included in a net investment in a foreign operation (see
below).

7 Financial instruments
Financial instruments refer to both primary financial
instruments such as receivables and liabilities, and to financial
derivatives. Please refer to the treatment per balance sheet
item for the accounting policies relating to the primary
financial instruments.
The company's policy is aimed at reducing the risks to an
acceptable level, where possible. This includes managing
credit risks (mainly debtor risks), liquidity risks and cash flow
risks (foreign exchange and interest rate risk). Much of the
credit risk is insured with a credit insurer. Foreign exchange
positions are largely covered by forward exchange
transactions.

Hedging instruments at cost
Financial instruments that serve to hedge risks and whose
underlying securities are not publicly listed, or for which no
hedge accounting is applied, are stated at cost or market
value, whichever is the lower.
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Foreign currency transactions in the reporting period are
recognised in the financial statements at the exchange rate
prevailing at the transaction date.
The assets and liabilities included in the net investment in a
foreign operation are translated to the functional currency at
the exchange rate prevailing at the balance sheet date. The
income and expenses of such foreign operations are
translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate
prevailing on the transaction date. Translation differences are
recognised in the currency translation differences reserve in
equity.
If a foreign activity is sold, wholly or in part, the cumulative
amount relating to the sale is transferred from the currency
translation differences reserve to the general reserves.

9 Accounting policies for assets and
liabilities

Netting of financial instruments

Intangible fixed assets

A financial asset and a financial liability are netted if the entity
has a reliable legal instrument for settling the financial asset
and the financial liability on a net basis and firmly intends to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Intangible fixed assets are included in the balance sheet when
it is probable that the future benefits embodied in the asset
will accrue to the entity and the costs of the asset can be
measured reliably.

In the event of a transfer of a financial asset that does not
qualify for elimination from the balance sheet, the asset
transferred and the associated liability are not set off against
each other.

Intangible fixed assets are stated at the cost of acquisition or
production, less accumulated amortisation and impairments.
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The subsequent expenditures for an intangible fixed asset
either purchased or self-produced are added to the cost of
acquisition or production if it is probable that the
expenditures will lead to an increase in the expected future
economic benefits, and the expenditures and the allocation of
the asset can be reliably measured. If the capitalisation
conditions have not been met, the expenditures are
recognised as costs in the income statement.

The accounting polices relating to the determination of
impairments are included under Impairments of tangible and
intangible fixed assets (see page 83).
Goodwill is defined as the positive difference between the
acquisition price of the associates (including the transactions
costs relating directly to the acquisition) and the group's
interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the associate acquired, less the accumulated
amortisation and impairments. Goodwill generated internally
is not capitalised.
Capitalised positive goodwill is amortised according to the
straight line method over the estimated useful life, which is 20
years.
Goodwill paid upon the acquisition of foreign group
companies and participating interests is converted at the
exchange rate on the transaction date.
In the event of the entire or partial sale of an associate, the
positive goodwill allocated to the part sold is proportionally
written down (if the event of capitalised goodwill) and taken
to the book result.
Intangible fixed assets other than goodwill, such as licences,
concessions and permits, are stated at purchase price, less
accumulated amortisation and impairments. They are
capitalised upon being taken into use and amortised based on
the expected useful life (in most cases 20 years). Intangible
fixed assets relating to the purchase and implementation of
software are amortised over an expected useful life of five
years. An impairment analysis is carried out in the event of any
indications that could lead to possible readjustment of the
valuation. Prepayments on intangible fixed assets are stated at
acquisition or production cost. Prepayments on intangible
fixed assets are not amortised.

Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets are included in the balance sheet if it is
probable that the future performance units related to the
asset will be attributed to the entity and the costs of the asset
can be measured reliably.

The cost of the assets described comprises the acquisition or
production cost and other necessary costs for delivering the
assets to their location in the required condition for the
envisaged use. The cost of the assets produced for the entity's
own account comprises the acquisition costs of the raw and
auxiliary materials and other costs that can be allocated
directly to production.
The production cost is a reasonable part of the indirect costs
and the interest on liabilities for the period that can be
allocated to the production of the assets.
The asset is depreciated from the moment it is made available
and the EUR grants received (CMO) are deducted from the
value. Depreciation is calculated as a percentage of the
purchase price including any residual value using the straight
line method based on useful life. Tangible fixed operating
assets under construction as well as prepayments on tangible
fixed assets are not depreciated. Depreciation ends upon the
decommissioning or disposal of assets or achievement of the
expected residual value.
The following percentages are used:

Buildings
Machinery and equipment
Other fixed assets

3-10
10-20
10-20

Maintenance expenditure is capitalised only if it extends the
useful of the object and/or leads to future object-related
performance units. If this expenditure does not meet the
capitalisation conditions, it is taken directly to the income
statement.
Decommissioned assets are valued at book value or the net
realisable value, whichever is lower.

Buildings and land
The depreciation of buildings is based on the expected useful
life of the building. Land is not depreciated.
Other tangible fixed assets
Machinery and equipment, other property, plant and
equipment and fixed assets under construction and
prepayments on tangible fixed assets are stated at cost, less
accumulated depreciation and impairments.
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Financial fixed assets

Inventories

Associates in which significant influence can be exercised over
commercial and financial policy are valued at net asset value
according to the equity method. If valuation at net asset value
is not practicable because the information required for this
purpose cannot be obtained, the associate is valued according
to disclosed net equity. In determining whether there is an
associate in which the company exercises significant influence
on the commercial and financial policy, all the actual
circumstances and contractual relationships (including any
potential voting rights) are taken into account.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost or net realisable
value, less any provisions for obsolescence. The cost
comprises the cost of acquisition or production, plus other
costs for bringing the inventories into their present condition.
The net realisable value of the inventory is based on the fair
market value. The cost price method applied to the inventory
is the average purchase price method.

The net asset value is determined in accordance with the
company's accounting policies.

Receivables

Associates with a negative net asset value are valued at nil.
This valuation includes long-term receivables from associates
that should in fact be regarded as part of the net investment.
This mainly concerns loans of which settlement is neither
scheduled nor probable in the near future.
A share in the profit of the associate in later years is
recognised only if and to the extent that the accumulated
share not recognised in the loss has been recovered. Where
the company has either wholly or partially guaranteed debts
payable by the relevant associate, a provision has been formed
which is primarily charged to receivables from this associate
and the remainder to the other provisions. The amount of the
provision equals the remaining share in the losses incurred by
the associate or the expected payments to be made by the
company on behalf of these associates.
The receivables from and loans to associates as well as other
receivables are initially recognised at fair value, plus the
directly allocable transactions costs. The receivables are
subsequently recognised at amortised cost based on the
effective interest method, less the provisions deemed
necessary.
A deferred tax liability [sic] is formed for future tax liabilities
resulting from timing differences between the valuation of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting and for tax
purposes Where temporary differences relating to group
companies can be set off, a deferred tax asset is only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
difference will reverse in the foreseeable future and that
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
difference will be utilised.
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Inventories of packaging are carried at the refundable
amount, unless held on consignment.

Receivables are initially recognised at fair value and
subsequently at amortised cost, less any provisions for
doubtful debts deemed necessary. These provisions are
determined on the basis of an individual assessment of the
receivable. If there are no premiums, discounts and
transaction costs, the amortised cost is taken as equal to the
nominal value of the receivable.
The effective interest rate and impairments are recognised
directly in the income statement.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are valued at nominal value. The
portion of cash and cash equivalents not freely disposable is
specified in greater detail in note 18.

Equity
Financial instruments regarded as equity instruments based
on the economic reality are stated under shareholders' equity.
Distributions to holders of these instruments are deducted
from equity net of any related benefits arising from profits tax.
Financial instruments regarded as a financial liability based on
the economic reality are stated under liabilities. Interest,
dividends, income and expenses relating to these financial
instruments are recognised as income or expenses in the
income statement.

Share premium
The amounts higher than the nominal share capital
contributed by the shareholders are recognised as share
premium. The share premium reserve was created in 1996
upon contribution in kind against the issuance of Class A
shares.

Revaluation reserve
The revaluation reserve that was formed in the past was based
on the individual asset and is no higher than the difference
between the book value based on historical cost and the book
value based on current cost. The realised revaluation (relating
to depreciation of the asset) is deducted from the revaluation
reserve. Value adjustments to the particular asset, not being
normal depreciation, are deducted from the revaluation
reserve.
If an asset is sold, any existing revaluation reserve relating to
the asset is released to the other reserves. A deduction for
deferred tax liabilities, calculated at the current tax rate, has
been taken into account in determining the revaluation
reserve.

Minority interests
Minority interests are valued at the proportional share of third
parties in the net value of the assets and liabilities, based on
the company's accounting policies

Provisions
General
A provision is included in the balance sheet when there is:
• a legally enforceable or constructive obligation arising
from a past event;
• which can be reliably estimated, and
• it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation.
Rights and obligations arising from the same agreement are
not included in the balance sheet if and insofar as neither the
company nor the other party has delivered performance.
Inclusion in the balance sheet occurs when the performance
and consideration to be received or delivered are not, or no
longer, in equilibrium and this has negative consequences for
the entity.
Provisions are recognised at the nominal value of the best
estimate of the expected expenditure required to settle the
liabilities and losses.

Pension provisions
Pension provisions are valued in accordance with the Dutch
Guidelines for Annual Reporting, Guideline 271.3 'Employee
Benefits – Pensions'.
Pension plans in the Netherlands
Pension commitments arising from the Dutch pension plans
are valued according to the 'liability towards the pension
administrator' principle. This approach recognises the
contributions payable to the pension administrator as an
expense in the income statement in the relevant period.
If the contributions due have not yet been paid at the balance
sheet date, a liability is recognised. If the contributions already
paid exceed the payable contributions at the balance sheet
date, an accrual is recognised (under current assets) to
account for any repayment by the fund or set-off against
contributions payable in the future.
The administration agreement specifies circumstances in
which other liabilities may arise in addition to the payment of
the annual contributions payable to the pension
administrator. These additional liabilities, including liabilities
arising from recovery plans of the pension administrator, will
lead to charges for the group and will be recognised in the
balance sheet as a provision.
The pension provision included in the balance sheet only
covers the unconditional liabilities regarding entitlements
accrued as at the balance sheet date arising from expected
future price and index changes and payable by the company.
The valuation of this liability is the best estimate of the
amounts needed to settle the liability on the balance sheet
date. If the effect of the time value of money is material, the
liability will be valued at its present value. Discounting will be
applied based on interest rates applicable to premium
corporate bonds.
Increases of and releases from the liabilities are charged to the
income statement.
Pension plans outside the Netherlands
Pension plans in countries outside the Netherlands that are
comparable to the way in which the pension system in the
Netherlands is organised and operates are treated in the same
way as pension plans in the Netherlands.
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Liabilities arising under pension plans outside the Netherlands
that are not comparable to the way the pension system in the
Netherlands is organised are valued on the basis of a generally
accepted actuarial valuation method in the Netherlands which
is in line with the ‘commitment to the employee’ principle.
This means that the liability is valued based on the best
estimate of the amounts needed to settle the liabilities in
question on the balance sheet date.
Other long-term employee compensation
Other long-term employee compensation comprises
emoluments that form part of the remuneration package,
such as work anniversary bonuses, temporary leave, etc. with a
long-term character. Entitlement to these is earned. The
liability is valued based on the best estimate of the amounts
needed to settle the liabilities in question on the balance
sheet date.

Deferred tax liabilities
A provision is formed for future tax liabilities resulting from
timing differences between the valuation of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting and for tax purposes.
The provision is carried at its non-discounted value on the
basis of the prevailing tax rate.

Other provisions
Except where stated otherwise, any other provisions are
valued at the nominal value of the expenditure expected to be
necessary to settle the related liabilities.
Provisions on account of claims, disputes and legal
proceedings
This provision is formed if it is probable that a court will rule
against the company in legal proceedings. The provision is the
best estimate of the amount required to settle the obligation,
and includes the costs of the legal proceedings.
Provision for onerous contracts
The provision for onerous contracts comprises the negative
difference between the expected benefits to be derived by the
entity from the performance to be delivered after the balance
sheet date and the unavoidable costs of fulfilling the
obligations. The unavoidable costs are the costs that must at
least be incurred to get out of the agreement, being the lower
of the costs of fulfilling the obligations, on the one hand, and
the payments or penalties for not fulfilling the obligations, on
the other.
Earn-out provision
An earn-out obligation arises from an agreement to acquire
pear varieties, including trademark rights, related contracts
and other activities. The earn-out obligation is based on the
projected income from fruit and tree royalties. A provision has
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been formed for this purpose, which is reviewed on an annual
basis.

Long-term liabilities
The long-term liabilities are initially recognised at fair value.
At that moment the fair value is equal to the amortised cost.
The subsequent long-term liabilities are recognised at
amortised cost. If there are no premiums, discounts or
transaction costs, the amortised cost is taken as equal to the
nominal value of the liability.
Product funds consist of levies raised on growers. They are
carried at face value and may only be used to defray the cost
of commercial activities such as promotions, product research
and care systems, after consultation with growers'
representatives.

10 Accounting policies for determining the
result
Net revenue
Sale of goods
Proceeds from the sale of goods are recognised in the net
revenue at the fair value of the payment received or
receivable, net of goods returned and compensation, trade
and volume discounts. Proceeds from the sale of goods are
recognised in the income statement when the principal risks
and benefits of ownership have been transferred to the buyer,
the amount of the proceeds can be reliably measured,
collection of the amount owed is probable, the related costs or
any goods returned can be reliably estimated and there is no
continuing involvement with the goods.
The transfer of risks and benefits varies according to the terms
and conditions of the sales contract concerned. In the event of
transportation, transfer takes place upon transportation of
the shipment and invoicing accordingly.
Commission on sales having the nature of commission
business, for which The Greenery receives a fixed percentage
as income, is treated in the same manner as net revenue.

Cost of subcontracted work and other external
costs
This item includes the costs incurred for operating income, to
the extent that these costs have been charged by third parties
and do not qualify as costs of raw and auxiliary materials. All
costs are determined in accordance with the above accounting
policies and are allocated to the reporting year to which they
relate.

Employee benefits
Employee benefits are recognised as an expense in the income
statement in the period in which the work is performed, and to
the extent not yet paid, as a liability in the balance sheet. If the
amounts already paid exceed the benefits payable, the excess
amount is recognised as an accrual (under current assets) to
account for any repayment by employees or settlement with
future payments by the company.

Operating leases
If the entity acts as the lessee in an operating lease, the object
leased is not capitalised. Lease payments and fees regarding
operating leases are taken or charged to the income
statement evenly over the lease period, unless another
imputation system is more representative of the pattern of
the benefits to be derived from the object leased.

Government subsidies
The expected expenses associated with benefits involving the
accrual of rights and bonuses are taken into account during
employment. An expected allowance arising from bonus
payments is recognised if the obligation to pay the allowance
arose at or prior to the balance sheet date and the liabilities
can be reliably estimated. Additions to and releases from
liabilities are taken to the income statement.

Leasing
The entity may conclude financial and operating leases. A
lease, where the benefits and risks attached to ownership of
the leased object are transferred in full or almost in full to the
lessee, are classified as a financial lease. All other leases are
classified as operating leases. The substance rather than the
legal form of the transaction determines the lease
classification. Classification of the lease takes place at the
time it is entered into.
Financial leases
If the entity acts as the lessee in a financial lease, the object
leased (and the associated debt) is recognised at fair value in
the balance sheet upon commencement of the lease period,
or at the present value of the minimum lease payments, if this
is lower. Both values are determined at the time the lease is
entered into. The implicit interest rate is used to calculate the
present value. If the implicit interest rate cannot be
practicably determined, the incremental borrowing rate is
used. The initial direct costs are included upon initial
recognition of the object lease.
The lease payments are subsequently required to be divided
into interest expenses and repayment of the outstanding
liability. The interest expenses must be allocated to each
period during the lease period so as to achieve a constant
periodic interest rate for the remaining net liability relating to
the financial lease.

Operating subsidies are taken to the income statement of the
year to which the subsidised expenditure is charged, or the
year in which the yield was lost or the operating deficit
occurred. The amounts received in advance (both short and
long term) are recognised under accruals and deferred
income. Investment subsidies are deducted from the invested
amount. The amounts received in advance (both short and
long-term) are recognised under accruals and deferred
income and are systematically recognised in the income
statement during the useful life of the asset.

Interest receivable and similar income and
interest payable and similar charges
Interest income is recognised in the period to which it relates,
taking account of the effective interest rate of the particular
asset item. Interest payable and similar charges are recognised
in the period to which they relate.
The additional costs attached to the use of more than the
usual supplier credit are recognised as an interest expense.

Taxes
Taxes are included in the income statement, except to the
extent that they relate to items recognised directly in equity,
in which case tax is recognised in equity.
The current tax for the financial year is the tax that is expected
to be paid on the taxable profit for the financial year, based on
the tax rates set at the reporting date or on which a firm
decision has been taken at the reporting date, and any
adjustments of the tax payable for prior years.

Share in result of associates
The results of associates in which the company exercises
significant influence over the commercial and financial policy
are recognised in proportion to the company's share of the
results of these associates. The result is determined on the
basis of the prevailing accounting principles at the company
for determining the net result.
The results of associates acquired or divested in the course of
the financial year are recognised in group net income from the
time of acquisition or until the time of disposal.
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Determination of fair value

12 Events after the balance sheet date

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount for
which an asset could be exchanged or a liability settled
between knowledgeable parties in an arm's length
transaction.

No events are stated in the financial statements that provide
further information on the actual situation as at the balance
sheet.

The fair value of unlisted financial instruments is determined
by discounting the expected cash flows at a discount rate
which is the same as the applicable risk-free interest rate for
the residual life plus credit and liquidity margins.

Related parties
Related party transactions (see notes 24 and 45 for the
identified related parties) are disclosed if they have not been
entered into under usual market conditions. The nature and
size of these transactions and other information that is
needed to provide insight are disclosed.

11 Basis of preparation of the consolidated
cash flow statement
The cash flow statement has been prepared using the indirect
method. In general, the cash flow statement reflects the
movements in the consolidated balance sheet, with separate
presentation under cash flow from investing activities in the
case of the acquisition or sale of consolidated associates, of
the acquired net asset value, less cash and cash equivalents,
and increased by any goodwill paid. Exchange rate movements
are eliminated from balance sheet movements, as they do not
represent cash flows. Partly for the above two reasons, the
movements in the cash flow statement cannot always be
directly derived from the movements in the related balance
sheet items.
Cash flows in foreign currency are translated at an average
exchange rate. Currency exchange differences on cash are
recognised separately in the cash flow statement. Profits tax
and interest are stated under cash flow from operating
activities. Dividends received are stated under cash flow from
operating activities.
The following two transactions are not shown in the cash flow
statement because they are non-cash items:
• Reduction of the nominal value of the issued capital of The
Greenery B.V. by EUR 8.3 million. See note 38 –
Shareholders' equity .
• In 2018, The Greenery took over a contractual position of
Hagé vis-à-vis Coforta in respect of a loan. The receivable
from Coforta was settled by reducing the nominal value of
The Greenery's shares. A liability of EUR 8.3 million towards
Hagé remains in The Greenery's company financial
statements. See note 41 –Current liabilities.
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Notes to the consolidated balance sheet
(in thousands of euros)

13 Intangible fixed assets
The movement in intangible fixed assets is as follows:
in duizenden euro's

Goodwill
Other intangible fixed assets
Net book value as at 31 December

2018

2017

8,235
7,489
15,724

5,769
7,782
13,551

2018

2017

Goodwill
in thousands of euros

Net book value as at 1 January
Depreciation
Investment in subsidiary
Other movements
Net book value as at 31 December
Accumulated cost
Accumulated depreciation and impairments
Net book value as at 31 December

5,769
(1,431)
3,883
14
8,235

7,034
(1,282)
17
5,769

38,605
(30,370)
8,235

34,722
(28,953)
5,769

The EUR 3.9 million increase in goodwill is related to the 18% interest acquired by the organisation in A Pearson Holdings Ltd on
28 March 2018.
Other intangible fixed assets
in thousands of euros

Net book value as at 1 January
Investments
Depreciation
Reversal of impairments
Other movements
Net book value as at 31 December
Accumulated cost
Accumulated depreciation and impairments
Net book value as at 31 December

2018

2017

7,782
1,501
(1,847)
48
5
7,489

8,704
1,254
(2,910)
320
414
7,782

23,576
(16,087)
7,489

21,963
(14,181)
7,782

Mainly ICT and pear-growing rights and associated licensing rights are capitalised under other intangible fixed assets. In January
2012, the Company acquired the shares of New Sensations B.V. and Goeie Peer B.V., a company that holds the breeder's rights to
the Rode Doyenne Van Doorn pear variety, as well as the licensing rights for the Uta pear variety. In 2018 and 2017, assumptions
for determining the WACC were changed and part of the 2016 impairment was reversed. For 2018, this was in the amount of EUR
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48 thousand(2017: EUR 320 thousand). The original impairment is based on the future sales of trees, and gross/net harvest
figures.
The investments in 2018 mainly relate to external costs for the purchase, development and implementation of software for
various ICT projects aimed at further digitisation. The book value of the purchase, development and implementation of software
at the balance sheet date stated under other intangible fixed assets amounts to EUR 5.2 million (2017: EUR 5.1 million).
The other movements in 2018 comprise transfers of tangible fixed assets.

14 Tangible fixed assets
Cost, accumulated revaluation, accumulated depreciation and net book values as at 31 December 2018 were as follows:

in thousands of euros

Purchase price
Accumulated depreciation
Accumulated revaluation
Accumulated depreciation
revaluation
Carrying amount
31 december 2017
Movements 2018
Investments
Disposals
Depreciation
Reversal of impairments
Transfers
Other changes
Total movements 2018
Purchase price
Accumulated depreciation
Accumulated revaluation
Accumulated depreciation
revaluation
Carrying amount
31 december 2018

Land and
buildings

Machinery and
equipment

Other fixed
operating assets

69,351
(32,462)
67,175

42,908
(24,978)
-

39,777
(30,252)
-

(7,871)
96,193

Operating assets
under construction

164
-

154,300
(87,692)
67,175
(7,871)

-

-

-

-

17,930

9,525

2,100

164

1,272
(265)
(4,787)
3,316
1,291
827

4,371
(262)
(1,899)
66
78
2,354

3,601
(4,025)
(424)

71,423
(33,298)
67,030

45,991
(27,234)
-

38,115
(26,236)
-

96,684

Total

2,100
-

2,569
(514)
(4,000)
1,794
643
(1)
491

(8,471)

Idle assets

125,912

-

11,813
(1,041)
(10,686)
1,794
1,368
3,248

1,676
-

164
-

157,369
(86,768)
67,030
(8,471)

-

-

-

-

18,757

11,879

1,676

164

129,160

The second part of the Retail DC in Barendrecht was commissioned in 2018. The majority of the investments relates to the
equipment in the Retail DC. Buildings and land include assets not used in the production process rented out to third parties and
therefore qualify for classification as investment property. However, in view of their limited number they are included under
buildings and land.
The amount stated under reversal of impairments relates to PTLA. The book value of PTLA decreased by EUR 1.0 million during
the year as a result of depreciation and exchange losses. A revaluation took place at year-end based on an improved harvest
forecast and price level that caused the valuation of PTLA to increase on balance (net) by EUR 0.8 million compared with 2017.
Excluding the depreciation and currency losses, the revaluation amounted to EUR 1.8 million (gross). The forecast cash flows on
which the value in use is based, calculated over a period that is derived from the useful life of the mango orchards, are calculated
at net present value at a discount rate of 10.1% and based on an exchange rate of BRL 3.80/EUR. The revenues in the forecast are
based on market information and the costs are determined on the basis of the budgeted costs.
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All real estate in Bleiswijk was pledged as mortgage collateral for the financing agreement concluded at the end of 2016. For
more information on the financing arrangement, see note 22 Current Liabilities, Collateral.
Of the investments, EUR 0.1 million (2017: EUR 0.7 million) was effected through financial lease commitments recognised under
other equipment. The total value of the financial lease recognised under tangible fixed assets as at 31 December 2018 is EUR 1.9
million (2017: EUR 2.5 million). The financial lease commitments are recognised under long-term liabilities.
The book value as at 31 December 2018 includes EUR 7.0 million (2017: EUR 9.2 million) relating to investments at the grower
companies of members of the Cooperative. Other movements include the release of EU grants received.
EUR 0.6 million of the disposals relate to growers' projects divestments.
The accumulated unrealised revaluation amounted to EUR 59 million as at 31 December 2018 (2017: EUR 59 million). A provision
for deferred tax on this amount has been formed. Realisation of the revaluation is recognised in equity.

15 Financial fixed assets
The movement in financial fixed assets is as follows:
in thousands of euros

Non-consolidated participating interests
Deferred tax assets
Other long-term receivables
Amounts receivable from shareholders
Total

2018

2017

57,523
2,541
5,336
16
65,416

49,543
3,258
2,573
16
55,390

2018

2017

Non-consolidated participating interests
in thousands of euros

Carrying value as at 1 January
Share in result of non-consolidated participating interests
Investment in subsidiaries
Dividends received
Other movements
Carrying value as at 31 December

49,543
10,459
2,254
(4,715)
(18)
57,523

42,532
11,325
(4,322)
8
49,543

EUR 2.2 million of the investment in participating interests relates to the 18% interest the organisation acquired in A Pearson
Holdings Ltd on 28 March 2018. A Pearson Holdings Ltd grows and sells vegetable fruits mainly in the United Kingdom. The
participation in A Pearson Holdings Limited is valued at the net asset value because The Greenery is represented in that
associate's governing body. The first valuation of the participating interest was determined using the Purchase accounting
method.
For more details on associates, see note 47 List of subsidiaries and associates.
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Deferred tax assets
in thousands of euros

Carrying value as at 1 January
Release
Carrying value as at 31 December

2018

2017

3,258
(717)
2,541

3,357
(99)
3,258

The deferred tax liabilities relate mainly to the pension provision and the product funds. Expectations are that EUR 0.1 million of
those liabilities will be recovered within one year. The amount of non-activated losses whereby no tax liability is determined at
the balance sheet date is equal to EUR 3.8 million (2017: EUR 3.1 million).
Other long-term receivables
in thousands of euros

Carrying value as at 1 January
Impairments
Loans granted
Release of provision
Loan redemption
Carrying value as at 31 December

2018

2017

2,573
3,147
(384)
5,336

2,852
(46)
9
112
(354)
2,573

In 2018, an EUR 2.9 million loan was granted to minority holding A Pearson Holdings Limited. The minimum term of the loan is 2
years and 10 months and the maximum term 3 years and 10 months. The interest on the loan is 5% and will be added to it
annually. The original principal sum of the loan is GBP 2.5 million. The currency risk in respect of this loan is hedged by means of
a currency swap.
In connection with the sale of real estate in Bleiswijk, Houweling Klappolder B.V. was granted a suspension of payment in 2015
regarding a part of the purchase price, which was converted into a mortgage loan of EUR 2.5 million, with a 3.5% interest rate
and a term of 10 years and 2.5 months.
In 2013, a loan was granted to the minority holding Inova Fruit B.V. In view of the negative net asset value of Inova Fruit B.V. a
provision of EUR 1.0 million was formed for the possibility of impairment. A repayment of EUR 125 thousand was made on this
subordinated loan in 2018. The interest on the loan is 1.8% (2017: 1.9%).

16 Stocks
in thousands of euros

Goods for sale
Packaging
Total

2018

2017

5,965
5,769
11,734

6,849
4,395
11,244

The inventories include a provision for obsolescence of EUR 1.2 million (2017: EUR 1.1 million). This relates mainly to obsolescent
packaging.
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17 Receivables
in thousands of euros

Trade receivables
Amounts receivable from shareholders
Corporate income tax receivable
Other receivables
Packaging receivable service activities
Prepayments and accrued income
Total

2018

2017

43,905
1,597
2,428
5,230
3,176
5,808
62,144

53,859
12,768
1,568
3,450
2,653
4,739
79,037

All receivables fall due within one year.

Trade receivables
Trade receivables include a provision for impairment of EUR 0.8 million (2017: EUR 0.8 million). Trade receivables serve as
collateral for the financing agreement.

Receivable from shareholder
The Cooperative holds the entire share capital of the company.
To finance the repurchase of depositary receipts amounting to EUR 8.2 million at the end of 2017, Hagé International granted a
loan in the same amount at an interest rate of 8%. This shareholder's loan was redeemed in 2018.
The remainder of the receivable from the shareholder mainly comprises advances provided. The intention is to settle this
remaining part in 2019.

Other receivables
Other receivables mainly comprise amounts receivable from suppliers, advances provided and prepayments.

Prepayments and accrued income
Prepayments and accrued income mainly comprise sales to be invoiced, packaging bonuses and deposits.

18 Cash and cash equivalents
in thousands of euros

Cash at banks
Petty cash
Other cash equivalents
Total

2018

2017

4,449
13
1,117
5,579

16,610
8
1,956
18,574

Cash and cash equivalents are valued at nominal value. Cash and cash equivalents denominated in foreign currency are
converted into the functional currency at the exchange rate prevailing at the balance sheet date based on the closing rate
published by De Nederlandsche Bank (DNB). This item includes cash and cash equivalents in 2017 that are not freely disposable.
This concerns a short-term deposit to guarantee rental commitments that has been released in January 2018. These are
recognised under other receivables.
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A cash pool where the netting methodology is based on zero balancing is used within the group. Debit bank balances within the
cash pools are recognised under Amounts owed to bank and are financed through revolving credit facilities and an asset-based
finance facility. Current account debit balances under the asset-based finance system are guaranteed by accounts receivable
pledging. The current account balance on the asset-based finance system was positive as at 31 December 2018. Cash and cash
equivalents that have not been credited to the current account statement of the asset-based finance system at the balance
sheet date but are at the disposal of The Greenery are stated separately under 'Other cash and cash equivalents'.
There are no cash and cash equivalents in the entity which are not expected to be freely disposable for a period exceeding 12
months and therefore no cash and cash equivalents are classified as financial fixed assets.
The bank accounts serve as collateral for the financing agreement.

19 Group equity
The movements in group equity are as follows:
in thousands of euros

Book value as at 1 January 2018
Result for the year
Currency exchange differences
Reduction of nominal value of shares
Other movements
Comprehensive income for 2018
Book value as at 31 December 2018

Shareholders' equity

106,336
1,981
(134)
(8,343)
2,466
(4,030)
102,306

Minority interest

(174)
(8)
(8)
(182)

Group equity

106,162
1,981
(142)
(8,343)
2,466
(4,038)
102,124

The minority interest is the consolidated subsidiary Dalice Qingdao Trading Company Ltd., 30% of the shares of which are held by
a company outside the Group.
Please see note 38 Shareholders' equity' to the company balance sheet for a breakdown of shareholders' equity.

20 Provisions
The provisions are as follows:
in thousands of euros

Pension provision
Deferred tax liabilities
Other provisions
Book value as at 31 December

74

2018 Annual Report of The Greenery B.V.

2018

2017

5,404
16,318
3,321
25,043

8,502
21,021
4,823
34,346

The breakdown of provisions into short-term (less than one year), long-term (more than one year) and more than five years is as
follows:

in thousands of euros

Pension provision
Deferred tax liabilities
Other provisions
Total provisions

< 1 year

1 year > < 5 year

329
1,219
904
2,452

1,056
4,849
963
6,868

> 5 year

4,019
10,250
1,454
15,723

Total
2018

5,404
16,318
3,321
25,043

The movements in provisions are as follows:
in thousands of euros

Balance as at 1 januari 2017
Provisions used during the year
Provisions made during the year
Provisions reversed during the year
Other movements
Balance as at 31 december 2017
Provisions used during the year
Provisions made during the year
Provisions reversed during the year
Other movements
Balance as at 31 december 2018

Pension provision

Deferred tax liabilities

Other provisions

Total

8,935
(19)
340
(391)
(363)
8,502
(3,473)
391
(11)
(5)
5,404

19,260
(4,442)
6,203
21,021
(3,656)
1,549
(2,596)
16,318

8,038
(2,236)
2,554
(3,051)
(482)
4,823
(377)
269
(1,409)
15
3,321

36,233
(6,697)
9,097
(3,442)
(845)
34,346
(7,506)
2,209
(1,420)
(2,586)
25,043

Pension provision
The group contributes to a number of defined benefit pension plans in the Netherlands and the UK, as well as to a number of
defined contribution plans in the Netherlands and other countries.
Dutch pension provision
The basic pension plan for Dutch employees is administered either by Stichting Bedrijfspensioenfonds voor de Agrarische en
Voedselvoorzieningshandel (Bpf AVH) or Pensioenfonds Vervoer. Aegon administers a supplementary pension plan for employees
in the Netherlands, which is a defined contribution plan. The employee pension plan administered by the two above industrywide pension funds is a defined average earnings benefit plan with conditional indexation. The indexation of pension benefits
depends on the financial position of the pension funds. The contribution payable to the pension administrator is recognised as
an expense in the income statement, and where the payable contribution has not yet been paid to the pension administrator, it is
included as a liability on the balance sheet. The employer has no obligation to make additional contributions in the case of
underfunding of the industry-wide pension funds other than paying any future higher contributions. For this reason, the
contributions made during the pension input period are taken to the result in that period.
The pension plan rules of the old pension plans administered by Aegon and Centraal Beheer include an unconditional obligation
to grant indexation to members. A provision for this commitment of EUR 1.9 million (2017: EUR 1.6 million) is included in the
balance sheet.
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The main assumptions on which the calculation of these provisions is based are stated in the table below.
2018

Inflation rate
Discount rate
Future life expectancy

1.7%
2.1%
CBS2014

2017

1.6%
2.1%
CBS2014

The old pension plans administered by Aegon include an obligation to pay warranty expenses for the deposit. This obligation is
calculated based on the value of the deposit and a capital cost fee. A provision for this obligation of EUR 1.6 million (2017: EUR
1.8 million) is included in the balance sheet.
At 31 December 2018, the provisional coverage ratio amounts to 92.8% for the Stichting Bedrijfspensioenfonds voor de
Agrarische en Voedselvoorzieningshandel (Bpf AVH) and to 100.4% for Pensioenfonds Vervoer. At year-end 2017, the coverage
ratio of the Aegon deposit for old pension plans amounted to 119.3%.
Foreign pension provision
The pension plan for employees in the UK administered under the Personal Pension Plan is a defined contribution plan where 7%
of the basic salary is transferred to a pension insurer chosen by the employee.
In addition, there is a pension fund for former employees. This is a closed pension scheme under own management in which The
Greenery UK Ltd is responsible for any underfunding.
The calculations for the UK pension fund are based on actuarial assumptions in which future liabilities are discounted to present
value using a discount rate, including inflation. Based on the present value of the assets in the UK pension fund versus the
present value of the liability, the net amount of underfunding in the pension fund is EUR 1.9 million (2017: EUR 5.1 million), a
provision for which is included in the balance sheet. This provision relates to a Greenery UK Ltd commitment and has decreased
because a payment of EUR 3.0 million was made into the pension fund during the financial year. A recovery plan provides for
monthly contributions to the pension fund to strengthen its position. The expected pension costs in 2019 comprise the
contributions under the recovery plan amounting to approximately EUR 0.4 million.
The calculation of the pension provision for the UK pension fund is based on the following main assumptions:
2018

Inflation rate
Discount rate
Future life expectancy

3.4%
2.8%
S2NA
CMI2017

2017

3.4%
2.5%
S2NA
CMI2016

Provision for deferred tax liabilities
The provision for deferred tax liabilities relates chiefly to the revaluation of tangible fixed assets and the reinvestment reserve.
The decrease during 2018 is mainly attributable to use of the reinvestment reserve. The other movement of EUR 2.6 million is a
release resulting from a reduction of future corporate income tax rates.
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Other provisions
The other provisions are as follows:
in thousands of euros

Provision for work anniversaries
Provision for conditional earn-out obligation
Other provisions
Book value as at 31 December

2018

2017

1,310
953
1,058
3,321

1,365
1,083
2,375
4,823

In 2012 NFG Holding B.V. and Goeie Peer B.V. concluded a transaction in which NFG sold pear varieties, including trademark
rights, related contracts and activities, to Goeie Peer. An earn-out provision was calculated based on the projected income from
fruit and tree royalties. A provision was formed for this purpose amounting to EUR 1.0 million at year-end 2018 (2017: EUR 1.1
million).
The other provisions mainly comprise an onerous lease amounting to EUR 0.7 million (2017: EUR 1.7 million) and a provision for
EU grant-related claims amounting to EUR 0.1 million (2017: EUR 0.5 million). The decrease in the provision for EU grant-related
claims is mainly due to the final decisions received on the current objection procedures. This resulted in the repayment of a grant
to the Netherlands Enterprise Agency (RVO) and in the release of amounts reserved for these projects.

21 Non-current liabilities
in thousands of euros

Mandatory members' loans
Product funds
Financial lease obligations
Other loans
Accrued liabilities
Total

2018

2017

33,892
4,242
1,508
5,533
5,149
50,324

36,855
5,209
1,994
8,372
6,371
58,801

Mandatory members' loans
Mandatory members’ loans are based on the liquidity levy, which is calculated in proportion to the value of the goods supplied.
At the end of the year, the levy is converted into a mandatory members' loan with a term of four years and one day (2017: four
years and one day) with a commencement date of 31 December and an expiry date of 1 January. The interest on mandatory
members' loans is added to the principal amount unless a request for payment of the interest is received by 31 March. The
interest rate on mandatory members' loans is fixed annually based on EURIBOR plus a mark-up. In 2018, the rates on the various
loans ranged from 2.10% to 3.85% (2017: 2.10% to 4.70%).
There were also voluntary members' loans totalling EUR 8.9 million as at 31 December 2018 (2017: EUR 8.9 million) bearing
interest rates from 2.10% to 3.50% (2017: 2.10% to 3.50%). Voluntary members' loans that are due every year between 1 January
and 31 March are recognised as current liabilities.
The members' loans maturing on 1 January 2019 amounting to EUR 5.9 million are recognised under current liabilities (2017:
EUR 6.8 million). The portion of these members' loans due after five years is EUR 4.2 million (2017: EUR 8.3 million). The interest
accrued and payable on the mandatory and voluntary members' loans is classified as subordinated capital as at 31 December of
the financial year. The members' loans are subordinated to the bank loans. The accruals and deferred income at EUR 5.1 million
relate to the growers' operating budget.
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Product funds
in thousands of euros

Book value as at 1 January
Withdrawals
Additions
Interest
Book value as at 31 December

2018

5,209
(2,143)
1,152
24
4,242

2017

5,536
(1,609)
1,255
27
5,209

By their nature, product funds are subordinated.
The rate of interest is based on the one-month EURIBOR rate plus a mark-up of 0.5%.

Financial lease
In 2018, the company entered into financial lease commitments for vehicles, which are recognised under tangible fixed assets.
The leases have a term of five years and the interest rate included in the lease ranges from 2.78% to 3.75% (2017: 2.79% to
3.75%). The lease instalments due within one year amount to EUR 0.4 million and are recognised under current liabilities.

Other loans
These are loans granted mostly by members of the Cooperative to finance capital expenditure by the company on their behalf. In
2018, the interest on these loans amounted to 0.00% (2017: 0.00%). The other loans with a term of less than one year are stated
under other liabilities (EUR 1.6 million).

22 Current liabilities
in thousands of euros

Debts to credit institutions
Financial lease obligations
Trade creditors
Accounts payable to Growers
Mandatory members' loans
Voluntary members' loans
Taxes and social security contributions
Pension liabilities
Personnel related liabilities
Turnover bonusses
Other liabilities
Accruals and deferred income
Total

2018

2017

3,246
388
49,160
11,040
5,862
8,919
3,450
2,416
4,558
3,991
8,901
10,335
112,266

183
557
46,105
11,601
6,813
8,867
3,652
1,011
5,002
3,938
9,051
7,619
104,399

The other liabilities mainly comprise operating allowances to be paid to growers and other costs due. The accruals and deferred
income mainly comprise invoices to be received and positions relating to logistical services provided yet to be settled.
All current liabilities fall due within one year.
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Taxes and social security contributions to be paid
in thousands of euros

Wage-tax
Value-added taks
Social security contributions
Other
Total

2018

2017

2,254
1,182
14
3,450

2,112
275
1,146
119
3,652

Collateral
The financing arrangement with Deutsche Bank and Rabobank was implemented at the end of 2016. This financing arrangement
consists of an accounts receivable financing facility totalling EUR 40 million with an interest mark-up at the EURIBOR rate plus an
availability commission of 0.40% as at 18 November 2018 (previously: 0.30%), a revolving EUR 20 million credit facility with an
interest mark-up at the EURIBOR rate and an unused line fee of 0.60% as at 18 November 2018 (previously: 0.50%). In addition, a
EUR 10 million guarantee facility was arranged. The credit agreement was extended until May 2020, with the option of extension
by one further year.
Real estate in Bleiswijk and the related insurances were provided as mortgage collateral for the financing agreement at the end
of 2016. Furthermore, bank accounts, accounts receivable and credit insurance were pledged as collateral.

Financial risks
Price risk
The Greenery runs a price risk on its economic inventory. In addition, the company trades in perishable products whose value, in
principle, decreases over time. The Greenery has a well-designed ERP system for the effective management of inventories and
price risks.
Interest rate risk
The variation in interest rates has an impact on the (direct) result. The interest rate policy is aimed at reducing the risk and
entails periodically assessing hedge effectiveness and using hedge accounting for hedges.
Currency risk
The Greenery runs the risk of currency fluctuations with regard to its purchasing and sales activities abroad. The net currency
position, which is determined on the basis of the accounts receivable position, the accounts payable position and bank balances,
is hedged periodically.
Liquidity risk
There is a risk that The Greenery does not have access to the required liquidity when needed. The company aims to limit liquidity
risk by making efficient use of liquidity available within the group through the cash pool and by guaranteeing availability of an
accounts receivable financing facility to support operational activities and to meet its financial obligations. Accounts receivable
financing in 2018 largely met the financing requirement, also because The Greenery sold real estate in 2017 so as to build up a
financial buffer to absorb shortfalls. This buffer can also be used if, due to higher market prices or volume, the working capital
increases.
Credit risk
The Greenery runs a credit risk when a counterparty fails to meet its obligations with regard to a financial instrument or a
contract with a buyer, causing financial loss. The Greenery is also exposed to credit risk in connection with its business activities
(primarily trade receivables) and in connection with its financing activities, including currency transactions and other financial
instruments.
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Where possible, the trade receivables are placed with a credit insurer. For uninsurable trade receivables, we apply internal limits
which are strictly monitored. The Greenery also provides harvest advances on a limited scale and in exceptional cases, which are
paid back through the delivery of products. The concentration risk is limited as we work with many different buyers. For the
largest of them, we apply supply chain finance programmes to rule out concentration risk in these relationships.
On the reporting date, the maximum exposure to credit risk amounts to the book value of the receivables and cash and cash
equivalents, as indicated in the respective notes. The Greenery considers that the credit risk is low because a significant part of
its trade receivables are insured. The credit balances held at banks are all credit balances at reputable banks. Receivables as a
result of harvest advances involve a higher risk, as these are dependent on weather and market conditions.

23 Off-balance sheet commitments
in thousands of euros

Guarantees and securities
Capital expenditure commitments
Lease and rental commitments
Other commitments
Total

2018

2017

3,897
7,592
70,473
5,395
87,357

3,675
4,642
71,067
5,223
84,607

The breakdown of off-balance sheet commitments into short-term (less than one year), long-term (more than one year) and
more than five years is as follows:

in thousands of euros

Guarantees and securities
Capital expenditure commitments
Lease and rental commitments
Other commitments
Total

< 1 year

1,550
7,592
8,139
5,395
22,676

1 year > < 5 year

26,437
26,437

> 5 year

2,347
35,897
38,244

Total
2018

3,897
7,592
70,473
5,395
87,357

The guarantees and security/collateral issued to secure the guarantee facility are mainly for real estate, trailers and payment
guarantees. The probability of calling on the guarantee depends on the fulfilment of the obligations by the entity. In view of the
solvency level and the scope of the financing arrangement, a claim under the guarantees described is unlikely to be submitted by
the beneficiaries of the guarantees in 2019.
The amount included in the capital expenditure commitments comprises EUR 0.5 million in ICT-related investments and EUR 7.1
million in movable property.
Of the amount of lease and rental commitments, EUR 65.6 million comprises real estate rentals (2017: EUR 65.7 million) and EUR
4.9 million vehicles (2017: EUR 7.2 million) is included in the balance sheet.
All lease commitments are operating lease commitments. The costs recognised in the income statement for the current financial
year relating to the lease and rental commitments included in the above table amount to EUR 8.2 million.
The amount for other commitments primarily concerns ICT-related contractual commitments.
As part of the transaction with A Pearson Holdings limited (APS), it has been agreed that in the event of termination of the supply
agreement between The Greenery and APS, a put and call option agreement applies in which APS has been granted a put option
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whereby APS is required to purchase the shares in APS from The Greenery. The Greenery has been granted a call option, whereby
The Greenery is, if desired, obliged to relinguish APS shares to APS.

24 Related-party transactions
Related-party transactions are those where a relationship exists between the company and a natural person or an entity
associated with the company, such as relationships between the company and its associates, the shareholders, the board
members and officers serving in key positions. Transactions are taken to mean a transfer of resources, services or obligations,
irrespective of whether an amount is charged.
In 2018, the company entered into transactions with its associates Europool System B.V., A Pearson Holdings Ltd and Inova Fruit
B.V. These transactions were conducted on market terms.
In 2013, a subordinated finance facility was provided to Inova Fruit B.V., an associate, at a fair market interest rate. In 2018,
EUR 125 thousand was repaid.
In accordance with Dutch accounting guideline RJ 330, the members of the company's Supervisory Board qualify as related
parties. Please see note 45 to the company financial statements for details of the remuneration of these directors.
In the course of the financial year, transactions were concluded with companies whose Supervisory Boards included members
that are either a board members and/or shareholders. The terms and conditions under which these transactions were conducted
do not vary from similar transactions with other companies. In the course of the financial year, a company of which a Supervisory
Board member is a board member and/or a shareholder was granted an advance for cultivation purposes in the form of a shortterm EUR 0.5 million loan, which was repaid during 2018. The interest on the loan was 3.5%.
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Notes to the consolidated income statement
25 Net revenue
Geographic spread
in thousands of euros

Geographic spread
The Netherlands
Germany
United Kingdom
Rest of Europe
Rest of the world
Total

2018

2017

663,568
116,037
40,841
156,787
14,633
991,866

648,679
130,641
41,514
165,017
17,301
1,003,152

2018

2017

913,105
75,997
2,764
991,866

927,916
70,450
4,786
1,003,152

Segementation by category
in thousands of euros

Segmentation by category
Fruit and vegetables
Logistical services
Exploitation & development
Total

Service provision and Exploitation & Development
This item covers income from logistical services, transport, rental and other operating income that includes an amount of EUR
1.1 million (2017: EUR 4.8 million) relating to EU grants.

26 Depreciation and amortisation of tangible and intangible fixed assets
in thousands of euros

Intangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets
Total
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2018

(3,278)
(10,686)
(13,964)

2017

(4,192)
(11,374)
(15,566)

27 Impairments of tangible fixed assets
No impairments occurred in 2018. An impairment relating to PTLA was recovered in 2018. For further details, see note 14
Tangible fixed assets.
An impairment that occurred in 2016 was partially recovered in 2018 and 2017. For further details, see note 13 Intangible fixed
assets.

28 Other operating expenses
Fees for the procedures performed by the external auditor
in thousands of euros

2018

2017

Audit of the financial statements by KPMG Accountants N.V.
Subtotal for audit of the financial statements

405
405

462
462

Other non-audit engagements by KPMG
Total

32
437

462

29 Financial income and expenses
Financial income and expenses mainly relate to interest income and expenses. The balance of interest paid to and interest
received from related parties is EUR 125 thousand (2017: EUR 23 thousand).

30 Taxes
The company and most of its wholly-owned subsidiaries in the Netherlands constitute a tax group. Corporate income tax is
recognised for each of the companies for the amount that would be payable by the company concerned as an independent taxpaying enterprise, taking account of the tax facilities applicable to that company.
The weighted average applicable tax rate is 25%, which is based on the income before tax in the various tax jurisdictions.
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The reconciliation between the applicable and the effective rate is shown below:
Corporate tax
in thousands of euros

Gross profit

in EUR

(10,882)
1,269
(9,613)

2,721
(317)
2,404
27
(9)
(11)
2,411

25.0%
-2.9%
22.1%
0.2%
0.0%
-0.1%
-0.1%
22.2%

(2,569)
1,124
(1,445)

642
(281)
361
6
2,422
608
266
3,663

25.0%
-10.9%
14.1%
0.2%
94.3%
23.7%
10.4%
142.6%

2018
Result before tax
Permanent differences
Non-capitalised losses of foreign group companies
Non-taxable result
Adjustments to tax returns in previous years
Miscellaneous
Taxes on income as shown in the income statement 2018
2017
Result before tax
Permanent differences
Non-capitalised losses of foreign group companies
Non-taxable result
Adjustments to tax returns in previous years
Miscellaneous
Taxes on income as shown in the income statement 2017

in %

The permanent differences mostly concern non-deductible amortisation of goodwill.

31 Employees
number of FTEs employed at year-end

Board/MT/offices
Logistical services
Transportation and other
Total

2018

2017

324
664
156
1,144

317
588
157
1,062

The average number of FTEs with permanent employment contracts during 2018 was 1,110 (2017: 1,085).
The average number of temporary staff in FTEs was 764 (2017: (649).
The number of employees in the Netherlands amounted to 1,003 (2017: 978) and there were 141 employees abroad (2017: 84)
based on FTEs at year-end, excluding trainees, temporary workers and interim staff.
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COMPANY BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018
(before profit appropriation)
in thousands of euros

Note

2018

2017

33
34
35

10,435
26,208
167,610
204,253

6,996
22,230
163,589
192,815

36
37

10,367
66,186
3,451
80,004

10,341
82,564
8,144
101,049

284,257

293,864

52,920
833
46,515
52,076
(52,019)
1,981
102,306

61,262
834
44,478
46,461
(59,182)
12,483
106,336

27,929
47,181
106,841
181,951

34,608
55,706
97,214
187,528

284,257

293,864

Assets
Fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets
Financial fixed assets1
Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets
Liabilities
Shareholders' equity
Share capital
Share premium
Revaluation reserve
Other legal reserves
Other reserves
Unappropriated profit
Provisions and liabilities
Provisions1
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities

Total liabilities

38

39
40
41

1 Comparative figures have been restated for comparison purposes only; these are explained under note 5.
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COMPANY INCOME STATEMENT 2018
in thousands of euros

Share of result of participating interests, after tax
Other income and expenses, after tax
Net result

86
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2018

16,880
(14,899)
1,981

2017

28,044
(15,561)
12,483

Notes to the company financial statements
32 General
The company financial statements form an integral part of the 2018 financial statements drawn up pursuant to the company's
Articles of Association. The financial data of the company are included in the consolidated financial statements.

Accounting policies for assets and liabilities
The accounting policies applied in the company financial statements are the same as those applied in the consolidated financial
statements. Please see the notes to the consolidated financial statements for these accounting policies.

Financial instruments
Financial instruments are stated in the company financial statements on the basis of their legal form.

Participation in group companies
Participating interests in group companies where significant influence is exercised on the commercial and financial policy are
carried at net asset value, but no lower than nil. The net asset value is determined in accordance with the company's accounting
policies. For further information, see the accounting policy for financial fixed assets in the consolidated financial statements.
The income from associates represents the company's share in the profit or loss for the financial year of the company concerned
from the time it became part of the group.

Taxes
The company is head of the tax group. Corporate income tax is recognised for each of the companies for the amount that would
be payable by the company concerned as an independent tax-paying enterprise, taking account of the benefits of the tax group.
The offsetting within the tax group between the company and its subsidiaries takes place through the current account
relationships.

33 Intangible fixed assets
The movement in intangible fixed assets is as follows:
in thousands of euros

Goodwill
Other intangible fixed assets
Carrying value as at 31 December

2018

2017

6,057
4,378
10,435

2,753
4,243
6,996
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Goodwill
in thousands of euros

Carrying value as at 1 January
Adjustment of capitalised goodwill
Investment in subsidiary
Depreciation and impairments
Carrying value as at 31 December
Accumulated cost
Accumulated depreciation and impairments
Carrying value as at 31 December

2018

2017

2,753
14
3,883
(593)
6,057

3,180
16
(443)
2,753

12,083
(6,026)
6,057

8,200
(5,447)
2,753

The EUR 3.9 million increase in goodwill is related to the 18% interest acquired by the organisation in A Pearson Holdings Ltd on
28 March 2018.

Other intangible fixed assets
in thousands of euros

2018

2017

Carrying value as at 1 January
Investments
Depreciation
Other movements
Carrying value as at 31 December

4,243
1,367
(1,232)
4,378

5,141
1,051
(2,363)
414
4,243

Accumulated cost
Accumulated depreciation and impairments
Carrying value as at 31 December

14,184
(9,806)
4,378

12,817
(8,574)
4,243

The other intangible fixed assets comprise external costs for the purchase, development and implementation of software.
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34 Tangible fixed assets
Cost, accumulated depreciation and net book values as at 31 December 2018 are shown below:

in thousands of euros

Purchase price
Accumulated depreciation
Carrying value as at 31 December
2017
Movements 2018
Investments
Disposals
Transfers
Depreciation
Other Movements
Movements 2018
Purchase price
Accumulated depreciation
Carrying value as at 31 December
2018

Buildings and land

Machinery and Other tangible fixed
equipment
assets

Tangible fixed assets
in progress

Total

(12,788)
16,368

26,138
(10,826)

12,585
(11,323)

2,076
-

28,011
(5,781)

3,580

15,312

1,262

2,076

22,230

2,486
(353)
619
(818)
404
2,338

1,190
(265)
3,170
(3,488)
1,300
1,907

810
(56)
212
(493)
104
577

3,157
(4,001)
(844)

7,643
(674)
(4,799)
1,808
3,978

(10,258)
16,176

29,111
(11,892)

9,154
(7,315)

1,232
-

29,239
(3,031)

5,918

17,219

1,839

1,232

26,208

The EU grants received corresponding to the investments recognised under other group companies are included under buildings
and land, machinery and equipment and other equipment.
The investments mainly comprise the new Retail DC and the new Hoogsteder building. The disposals mainly relate to growers'
projects.
The other movements comprise a release from the EU grants received.

35 Financial fixed assets
The movement in financial fixed assets is as follows:

in thousands of euros

Carrying value as at 1 January 2018
Loans granted
Investment subsidiaries
Redemption
Share of result of participating interests
Dividend received
Provision
Other movements
Carrying value as at 31 December
2018

Participation in group
companies

Receivables from
group companies

Associates

Deferred tax
assets

Total

79,649
6,421
(4,700)
(1,660)
1,925

31,906
(8,732)
-

49,723
3,143
2,234
(125)
10,459
(4,715)
4

2,311
(233)

163,589
3,143
2,234
(8,857)
16,880
(9,415)
(1,660)
1,696

81,635

23,174

60,723

2,078

167,610

For more details on associates, see note 47 List of subsidiaries and associates.
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Participation in group companies
The amount stated under other movements mainly concerns the currency translation differences reserve for associates in
connection with PTLA.

Amounts receivable from group companies
The amount recognised under redemption relates mainly to the redemption by Coforta of the inter-company loan with The
Greenery.

Associates
In 2018, an EUR 2.9 million loan was granted to minority holding A Pearson Holdings Limited.
EUR 2.2 million of the investment in participating interests relates to the 18% interest the organisation acquired in A Pearson
Holdings Ltd on 28 March 2018.
Over the course of 2018, an amount of EUR 4.7 million in dividend was received from EPS through Houdstermaatschappij
Verpakkingsbedrijven B.V. (2017: EUR 4.3 million).

36 Stocks
in thousands of euros

Goods for sale
Packaging
Total

2018

2017

4,868
5,499
10,367

6,186
4,155
10,341

The inventories include a provision for obsolescence of EUR 1.2 million (2017: EUR 1.1 million). This relates mainly to obsolescent
packaging.

37 Receivables, prepayments and accrued income
in thousands of euros

Trade receivables
Amounts receivable from group companies
Amounts receivable from shareholders
Corporate income tax receivable
Other receivables, prepayments and accrued income
Total

2018

2017

30,883
22,353
1,597
4,838
6,515
66,186

38,536
31,559
4,595
3,946
3,928
82,564

Trade receivables include a provision for impairment of EUR 0.2 million (2017: EUR 0.3 million).
The interest on amounts receivable from group companies is based on one-month EURIBOR plus a mark-up. The interest on
amounts receivable from shareholders is set at 0%.
All receivables fall due within one year.
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38 Shareholders' equity

in thousands of euros

Net value as at 1 January 2018
Result appropriation of previous
financial year
Revaluation realised with regard to
disposals and depreciation
Movements in legal reserves for
associates
Addition to the reserve of
associates
Result for the year
Reduction of nominal value of
shares
Other movements
Currency exchange differences
Net value as at 31 December 2018

Share capital

Share
premium
reserve

Revaluation
reserve

Other legal
reserves

61,262

834

44,478

46,461

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(8,342)
52,920

(1)
833

(559)

2,596
46,515

Other
reserves

Unapropriated
profit

Total

(59,182)

12,483

-

12,483

(12,483)

-

559

-

-

4,715

-

1,981

(4,715)
10,464
-

(10,464)
-

1,981

(134)
52,076

(130)
(52,019)

1,981

106,336
-

(8,343)
2,466
(134)
102,306

Paid-up and called-up capital
As at 23 April 2018, based on an amendment of the Articles of Association, the 281,000 Class A shares and 259,000
accumulated preferential Class B shares were combined to form 540,000 shares, numbered 1 to 540,000.
In addition, the nominal value of those shares was reduced from EUR 113.45 to EUR 98 per share on 23 April 2018, thus reducing
the issued capital by EUR 8.3 million to EUR 52.9 million.

Share premium reserve
The amounts higher than the nominal share capital contributed by the shareholders are recognised as share premium. The share
premium reserve was created in 1996 upon the contribution in kind against the issuance of Class A shares.

Revaluation reserve
The revaluation reserve records changes in the value of tangible fixed assets of Greenery Vastgoed B.V. until 2015 inclusive
carried at current value. Realisation of the revaluation is recognised in equity.
The other movement of EUR 2.6 million is a release of the provision for deferred tax liabilities resulting from a reduction of future
corporate income tax rates. That release is recognised in the revaluation reserve because when it was created, the deferred tax
liability concerned was taken to the revaluation reserve.

Other legal reserves
The legal reserve includes a reserve for participating interests which relates to the net asset value of associates. Translation
differences arising from the conversion of the functional currency used by foreign operations to the presentation currency used
by the parent company are also recognised in the legal reserve. If an associate is sold, the cumulative translation differences
relating to the associate are transferred to the general reserve and recognised under other movements.
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The movements in these reserves were as follows:

in thousands of euros

Net value as at 1 January 2018
Movement of legal reserve for associates
Grants to the reserve of associates
Currency exchange differences
Net value as at 31 December 2018

Reserve of
associates

Currency
translation
reserve

Other legal
reserves

49,540
(4,715)
10,464
55,289

(3,079)
(134)
(3,213)

46,461
(4,715)
10,464
(134)
52,076

Proposed profit appropriation
It is proposed to the General Meeting to add the profit of EUR 1,981,000 recorded in 2018 to the equity. This proposal has not yet
been incorporated into the financial statements.

39 Provisions
The provisions are as follows:
in thousands of euros

Pension provision
Deferred tax liabilities
Provision subsidiaries
Other provisions
Balance as at 31 December

2018

2017

3,553
16,318
6,591
1,467
27,929

3,372
21,079
8,251
1,906
34,608

Movements in pensions, deferred tax liabilities and other provisions were as follows:

in thousands of euros

Balance as at 1 January 2017
Provisions used during the year
Provisions made during the year
Provisions reversed during the year
Other movements
Balance as at 1 January 2018
Provisions used during the year
Provisions made during the year
Provisions reversed during the year
Other movements
Net value as at 31 December 2018

Pension provision

Deferred tax
liabilities

Provision
subsidiaries

Other provisions

Total

3,051
(19)
340
3,372
(14)
205
(11)
1
3,553

19,385
(4,369)
6,063
21,079
(2,165)
(2,596)
16,318

13,588
(5,337)
8,251
(1,660)
6,591

6,010
(1,279)
685
(2,866)
(644)
1,906
(5)
126
(575)
15
1,467

42,034
(11,004)
7,088
(2,866)
(644)
34,608
(3,844)
331
(586)
(2,580)
27,929

The other movement of EUR 2.6 million under deferred tax liabilities is a release resulting from a reduction of future corporate
income tax rates. The provision for associates relates to associates with a negative net asset value.
The provision for anniversaries accounts for EUR 1.3 million of the other provisions.
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For a further explanation, please see the notes to the consolidated balance sheet.

40 Non-current liabilities
Non-current liabilities consist of mandatory members' loans totalling EUR 33.9 million (2017: EUR 36.9 million), growers' loans
totalling EUR 4.0 million (2017: EUR 7.3 million), accruals relating to the operating budget for growers totalling EUR 5.1 million
(2017: EUR 6.4 million) and the product funds totalling EUR 4.2 million (2017: EUR 5.2 million). For further information, please
refer to note 21 to the consolidated balance sheet.

Information on financial instruments
For further information on financial instruments, please refer to the notes to the consolidated balance sheet.

41 Current liabilities
in thousands of euros

Short term Intercompany debt
Debts to credit institutions
Trade creditors
Accounts payable to Growers
Group companies
Mandatory members' loans
Voluntary members' loans
Taxes and social security contributions
Pension liabilities
Personnel related liabilities
Turnover bonusses
Other liabilities
Accruals and deferred income
Total

2018

2017

8,343
3,246
38,177
11,040
10,112
5,862
8,919
3,366
2,356
3,118
3,332
6,742
2,228
106,841

34,928
11,601
13,392
6,813
8,867
3,664
951
3,765
3,315
6,580
3,338
97,214

The current liability payable to group company is a debt payable to Hagé. The debt payable to Hagé arose because The Greenery
took over a contractual position of Hagé vis-à-vis Coforta in respect of a loan during 2018. All current liabilities fall due within
one year.
The other liabilities mainly comprise operating allowances to be paid to growers and other costs due.
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42 Off-balance sheet commitments
On behalf of the majority of the Dutch group companies included in the consolidation, the equity holder issued guarantees as
referred to in Book 2, Section 403 of the Dutch Civil Code. Pursuant to those guarantees, the equity holder is jointly and severally
liable for debts arising from legal acts performed by those group companies in the amount of EUR 5.7 million (2017: EUR 4.5
million) on the balance sheet date.
The Greenery B.V. has issued a 403 statement for the subsidiaries below:
Subsidiaries

Disselkoen Airfreight B.V.
E. van den Berg & Zonen B.V.
Greenery Holding B.V.
Greenery OG Barendrecht I B.V.
Greenery Produce B.V.
Greenery Specials Groep B.V.
Greenery Vastgoed B.V.
Hagé International B.V.
Hollander Barendrecht B.V.
Hoogsteder Groenten en Fruit B.V.
Internationaal Transportbedrijf Dijco B.V.
J.H. Wagenaar B.V.
Jover Beheer B.V.

43 Fiscal unit
The shareholder constitutes a fiscal unit for corporate income tax and turnover tax purposes with the vast majority of its Dutch
subsidiaries and, as such, is jointly and severally liable for the tax liability of the fiscal unit as a whole. The other companies that
form part of the fiscal unit are charged corporate income tax as though they were independent tax payers.
The corporate income tax is recharged or allocated within the fiscal unit on an annual basis.

44 Employees
A specification of personnel expenses is shown below:
in thousands of euros

Wages and salaries
Social security premiums
Pension costs
Other personnel costs
Total

2018

2017

32,252
5,065
6,055
1,774
45,146

31,644
4,990
4,688
1,796
43,118

The average number of FTEs with permanent employment contracts during 2018 was 644 (2017: 633). The average number of
temporary staff in FTEs was 440 (2017: 380).

45 Related-party transactions
See note 24 Related-party transactions in the consolidated financial statements for details.
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46 Remuneration of the members of the Board and Supervisory Board
The total amount charged to the company for the remuneration of current and former General Management members, including
pensions, in 2018 was EUR 0.8 million (2017: EUR 0.8 million) and for Supervisory Board members in 2018, EUR 0.2 million (2017:
EUR 0.2 million).

47 List of subsidiaries and associates
As at 31 December 2018 the most significant subsidiaries and associates included the companies listed below. A full list of
subsidiaries and associates has been filed with the Chamber of Commerce in Rotterdam.
Subsidiaries

Registered office

Share in capital (%)

Hollander Barendrecht B.V.1
Disselkoen Airfreight B.V.1
Greenery Produce B.V.1
E. van den Berg&Zonen B.V.1
Hagé International B.V.1
Dalice Qingdao Trading Company Ltd.
Hoogsteder Groenten en Fruit B.V.1
Greenery UK Ltd.
Greenery España S.A.
Internationaal Transportbedrijf Dijco B.V.1
J.H. Wagenaar B.V.1
Greenery Italia Srl.
Greenery Vastgoed B.V.1
Greenery Produce Holding B.V.1
PTLA Holding Participacões LTDA

Barendrecht
De Lier
Barendrecht
Barendrecht
Barendrecht
Hong Kong
Utrecht
Huntingdon (UK)
Carlet Valencia (ESP)
Delft
Zwaagdijk
Verona (ITA)
Den Haag
Barendrecht
Beberibe (BRA)

100
100
100
100
100
70
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100

Associates
Houdstermaatschappij Verpakkingen B.V.
Inova Fruit B.V.
A. Pearson Holding Ltd.

Zoetermeer
Geldermalsen
Wilmslow (UK)

Branches
The Greenery B.V.

Location
Breda
Bleiswijk

78.572
49.50
18.00
Country
Nederland
Nederland

1 Part of the fiscal unit of The Greenery B.V.
2 There is no dominant control on the basis of the provisions of the articles of association.

Barendrecht, 3 April 2019
General Management
S.A. Martina (CEO)
P.R. Limvers (CFO)

Supervisory Board
B.J. Feijtel (chair)
G.W. Pronk (vice-chair)
E.D. Drok
T.W. van Noord
A.E. Ter Laak
N. Peeters
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Other information
ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION PROVISIONS GOVERNING
PROFIT APPROPRIATION
Under Article 38 of the Articles of Association, the profit is appropriated as follows:

Article 38 Profit
1.

2.

3.
4.
5.
6.

96

The profit shall be at the disposal of the General Meeting for distribution of dividend or in order to be added to the reserves
or for such other purposes within the Company's objects as the meeting shall decide. For the computation of the amount of
the profit to be distributed on each Share, only the amount of the obligatory payments on the nominal amount of the shares
shall be taken into account. The preceding sentence may be derogated from with the consent of all Shareholders.
Additions or distributions from the profit shall not exceed the amount of the Distributable Reserves. A decision seeking to
make distributions will have no consequences until such time as the General Management has granted approval. The
General Management refuses to grant approval only if it is aware or is expected to foresee that the Company will be unable
to continue to pay its due and payable debts following distribution. The provisions of Book 2, Section 216, subsections 3 and
4 of the Dutch Civil Code apply if the Company is unable to pay its due and payable debts following distribution.
Additions or distributions from the profit shall not be effected until after adoption of the financial statements that
demonstrate their justification.
The General Meeting may decide to provide an interim addition or distribution from the profit, with due regard for the
provisions of Article 38.2.
Subject to the provisions, mutatis mutandis, of Article 38.2, the General Meeting may decide to effect distributions from a
non-statutory reserve.
The Shareholder's distribution claim shall lapse after five years.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To: the General Meeting and the Supervisory Board of The Greenery B.V.

REPORT ON THE ACCOMPANYING FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our opinion
We have audited the financial statements 2018 of The Greenery B.V., based in Barendrecht.
In our opinion the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of The Greenery B.V. as at
31 December 2018 and of its result for 2018 in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.
The financial statements comprise the following:
1. the consolidated and company balance sheets as at December 2018;
2. the consolidated and company income statements for 2018; and
3. the notes comprising a summary of the accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Basis for our opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the ‘Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ section of our report.
We are independent of The Greenery B.V. in accordance with the Wet toezicht accountantsorganisaties (Wta, Audit firms
supervision act), the ‘Verordening inzake de onafhankelijkheid van accountants bij assurance-opdrachten’ (ViO, Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants, a regulation with respect to independence) and other relevant independence regulations in the
Netherlands. Furthermore, we have complied with the ‘Verordening gedrags- en beroepsregels accountants’ (VGBA, Dutch Code
of Ethics).
We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

REPORT ON THE OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT
In addition to the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon, the annual report contains other information that
consists of:
• key statistics in 2018, key figures, 2018 highlights and foreword;
• report of the management board;
• governance, including the report of the Supervisory Board;
• other information pursuant to Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code;
• glossary of terms and abbreviations.
Based on the following procedures performed, we conclude that the other information:
• is consistent with the financial statements and does not contain material misstatements;
• contains the information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.
We have read the other information. Based on our knowledge and understanding obtained through our audit of the financial
statements or otherwise, we have considered whether the other information contains material misstatements.
By performing these procedures, we comply with the requirements of Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code and the Dutch
Standard 720. The scope of the procedures performed is less than the scope of those performed in our audit of the financial
statements.
The general management is responsible for the preparation of the other information, including the report of the management
board, in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code, and other information pursuant to Part 9 of Book 2 of the
Dutch Civil Code.
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DESCRIPTION OF THE RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Responsibilities of the general management and the Supervisory Board for the financial statements
The general management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with
Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. Furthermore, the general management is responsible for such internal control as the
general management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to errors or fraud.
As part of the preparation of the financial statements, the general management is responsible for assessing the company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Based on the financial reporting framework mentioned, the general management should
prepare the financial statements using the going concern basis of accounting unless the general management either intends to
liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. The general management should
disclose events and circumstances that may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern in the
financial statements.
The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the company’s financial reporting process.

Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objective is to plan and perform the audit assignment in a manner that allows us to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit
evidence for our opinion.
Our audit has been performed with a high, but not absolute, level of assurance, which means we may not have detected all
material errors and fraud during our audit.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or errors and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. The
materiality affects the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and the evaluation of the effect of identified
misstatements on our opinion.
We have exercised professional judgement and have maintained professional scepticism throughout the audit, in accordance
with Dutch Standards on Auditing, ethical requirements and independence requirements. Our audit included e.g.:
• identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to errors or fraud,
designing and performing audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from errors, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control;
• obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control;
• evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the general management;
• concluding on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the company ceasing to continue as a going concern;
• evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures; and
• evaluating whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.
Because we are ultimately responsible for the opinion, we are also responsible for directing, supervising and performing the
group audit. In this respect we have determined the nature and extent of the audit procedures to be carried out for group entities
or operations. Decisive were the size and/or the risk profile of the group entities or operations. On this basis, we selected group
entities or operations for which an audit or review had to be carried out on the complete set of financial information or specific
items.
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant findings in internal control that we identify during our audit.
Eindhoven, 3 April 2019
KPMG Accountants N.V.
M.H.C.J. Regouw RA
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Glossary of Terms and Abbreviations
AGF

Fruit royalty

The Dutch abbreviation for potatoes, fruit and vegetables or
fresh produce.

A payment made for club varieties for the use of intellectual
property rights for the fruit trees and their products to which
grower's and/or trademark rights are attached.

Bee Deals
The brand name Bee Deals refers to the various measures
taken by The Greenery's growers to create an optimum living
environment for bees.

FTE

Biodiversity

Global G.A.P

Biodiversity is the balance in the variety of plant and animal
life. Organic cultivation and a wide variety of fruit and
vegetables offer insects, including bees, a wide range of food
to choose from.

Global Good Agricultural Practice, an international scheme
which sets standards for food safety, hygiene, working
conditions, tracking & tracing and sustainability for fruit and
vegetable producers.

Category management

GRASP (Global G.A.P. Risk Assessment on Social
Practice)

The strategic management of product groups on a
cooperative basis aimed at determining the optimum
composition of the category to maximise consumer value.

Full-time equivalent; an FTE represents one full-time job in an
organisation.

A voluntary assessment in addition to the GlobalG.A.P. audit
concerning social and ethical circumstances at the
GlobalG.A.P. certified company.

CMO (Common Market Organisation)
The European Union Member States promote the
development of agriculture and horticulture based on a
common EU policy. There is a Common Market Organisation
for the fruit and vegetables sector (Fruit and Vegetables CMO).
Recognised producer organisations in the fruit and vegetables
sector are eligible for CMO grants.

CO2
The chemical formula for carbon dioxide. CO2 emissions are
mainly generated by burning fossil fuels. Examples include
heating, gas and electricity.

CSR (corporate social responsibility)

Greenhouse vegetables refer to all vegetables grown in
greenhouses, ranging from volume produce to exclusive
speciality produce, such as tomatoes, cucumbers, peppers,
courgettes, aubergines and chillies. In cooperation with our
growers, we also produce special varieties based on consumer
demand. Snack vegetables, such as small tomatoes,
cucumbers and peppers in handy packaging are a prime
example.

GRI
The Global Reporting Initiative is the international guideline
for sustainability reporting.

Business practice aimed at economic performance (profit)
with respect for social aspects (people) within ecological
parameters (planet).

Gross contribution

DC

'Growing Together'

Distribution centre.

The new strategy adopted by The Greenery for 2017-2020.
The Greenery aims to grow together with its clients and
growers. We can achieve this by further increasing our focus
on the client, emphasising an integrated approach to the
supply chain, and adding maximum value to our products and
services: 'Growing Together'. This strategy is underpinned by
four pillars: collaboration, quality, innovation and
sustainability.

EBITDA
Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and
Amortization.

Fresh Harvest (Verse Oogst)
www.verseoogst.nl is the online platform of The Greenery's
growers where consumers can find extensive information
about fruit, vegetables and mushrooms. Verse Oogst provides
complete product information and the most delicious recipes
for preparing products offered.
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Net revenue minus cost of sales and subcontracted work.

Home-based transshipment
Loading and transporting produce directly from the grower to
the customer without the intervention of one of The
Greenery's distribution centres.

IDH

PlanetProof (formerly Milieukeur)

The Dutch abbreviation (IDH: Initiatief Duurzame Handel) for
the Sustainable Trade Initiative of Dutch supermarkets and
trading companies.

PlanetProof is a quality mark for fruit, vegetables, flowers,
plants, trees and flower bulbs grown on the basis of more
sustainable cultivation methods. PlanetProof requires farmers
and market gardeners to go the extra mile to achieve cleaner
air, fertile soil, good water quality and boost nature in
agriculture.

Import
The Greenery imports exotic fruits, citrus fruits and tropical
fruits all year round, as well as other products that do not
grow in the Netherlands in certain periods. Under the Hagé
International brand name we source produce directly from
growers and producers across the globe.

LEAN
A management method aimed at improving the efficiency of
working methods. The LEAN method is used primarily to
develop a customer-focused, flexible way of working and to
eliminate wastage as far as possible.

Purchase accounting methods
The acquiring party must recognise the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the acquired party on the acquisition date. This
must be based on the fair value of those assets and liabilities
provided a number of conditions is met.

Re-export
Produce which is imported from an overseas territory and
subsequently re-exported.

Omnichannel

RJ (Richtlijnen voor de Jaarverslaggeving)

An overall brand experience using all sales and
communications channels with the aim of optimising
customer experience across all channels and the performance
of those channels.

Dutch Annual Reporting Guidelines

Organic
The cultivation of crops in soil using only natural and auxiliary
materials and organic crop protection. The product specialists
of the Naturelle product unit offer organic fruit, vegetables
and mushrooms from the Netherlands and abroad. The main
products within this product unit are tomatoes, cucumbers,
peppers, aubergines, cauliflower, broccoli and mushrooms, but
our entire range of fruit and vegetables is available as organic
produce.

Packages

SAP
German abbreviation (SAP: Systeme, Anwendungen und
Produkte in der Datenverarbeitung) for an integrated
information and control system in which business processes
are documented and managed.

Solvency
The debt to equity ratio.

Sourcing
Purchasing activities aimed at securing the supply of products
to be purchased, with a focus on the longer term. Sourcing
involves conducting market research on purchasing and
seeking alternative sources.

Individual packaging units.

Stockpile produce
Packaging warehouse
A warehouse where all packaging material and crates in which
fruit and vegetables are packed and transported are stored
and, where relevant, washed (packaging washing plant).

Produce that is usually lifted or cut in large volumes at the end
of the season and subsequently stored in a cool storage
facility.

Supply Chain Management (SCM)
Participation Act (Participatiewet)
The aim of the Participation Act is to enable as many people as
possible with or without an occupational impairment to find
work. The act replaces the Work and Social Assistance Act
(Wwb: Wet werk en bijstand), the Sheltered Employment Act
(WSW: Wet sociale werkvoorziening) and a large part of the
Work and Employment Support (Young Disabled Persons) Act
(Wajong: Wet werk en arbeidsondersteuning
jonggehandicapten).

Integrated supply chain management, based on process
improvement and collaboration with supply chain partners to
create improved and more efficient functionality.

Supply chain manager
As the supply chain manager, The Greenery manages its
logistical chain. The supply chain manager's primary task is to
ensure optimum synchronisation of the various links in the
supply chain.
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Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs)
The sustainable development goals (SDGs) are 17 global goals
for sustainable development for the 2015-2030 period
adopted by the 193 United Nations Member States. The SDGs
are intended to put an end to extreme poverty, inequality,
injustice and climate change and are applicable everywhere
and to everyone.

Sustainable cultivation
Healthy cultivation is sustainable cultivation. What is good for
the natural environment, is good for mankind.

Top fruit
All varieties of apples and pears are classified as top fruit. The
Greenery invests in the Junami apple club variety and in Sweet
Sensation pears.

Rich soil produce
Our rich soil produce includes all lettuce varieties as well as
leafy vegetables, cabbages, root vegetables, tuber vegetables
and stem vegetables. 'Stapelproducten' (stockpile produce)
such as white and red cabbage are included in the product
range.

Seed companies
The parties that process or refine seeds to influence certain
characteristics of fruit and vegetables.

Sickness absence
Absence from work due to sickness or another disorder.

Soft fruit
Soft includes strawberries and a full range of stone fruit and
woody small fruit such as cherries, rhubarb, peaches, plums,
red currants, blueberries, blackberries and raspberries.
Asparagus also falls into the Soft Fruit product category.
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MORE INFORMATION

We would be pleased to receive any questions, comments or suggestions at the following address:
corporatecommunicatie@thegreenery.com
The Greenery B.V.
Spoorwegemplacement 1, Barendrecht, The Netherlands
P.O. Box 79, 2990 AB Barendrecht, The Netherlands
Telephone: +31 (0)180 65 59 11
E-mail: info@thegreenery.com
www.thegreenery.com
This Annual Report is a translation of the Dutch Annual Report, which is the official version.
Please note that in case of discrepancies, the Dutch version will prevail.
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